

Extraction and gastro-intestinal digestion of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides

Théogène Dusingizimana

Promoter: Prof. dr. ir. John Van Camp

Co-Promoter: Dr. ir. Karin Struijs

Master's dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Nutrition and Rural Development Main subject: Human Nutrition.

Copyright

"The author and the promoters permit the use of this Master's Dissertation for consulting purposes and copying of parts for personal use. However, any other use falls under the limitations of copyright regulations, particularly the stringent obligation to explicitly mention the source when citing parts out of this Master's dissertation."

Ghent University, June 2012

Promoter

Prof. dr. ir. John Van Camp

Co-Promoter

Dr. ir. Karin Struijs

The Author

Théogène Dusingizimana

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost, I thank the Almighty God, to whom this dissertation is dedicated for many reasons. I can barely find the words to express them. Thank you Lord.

I would like to record my sincere gratitude to Prof. dr. ir. John Van Camp, promoter of this master dissertation, for creating the environment to work with him from the very early stages of my master studies. In particular, this dissertation would never have been realized without him. I am really grateful for his guidance, advice, encouragements and inspirations.

My co-promoter, Dr. ir. Karin Struijs, has always been there to listen and respond to my questions so promptly. I am deeply grateful to her for her excellent tutorship in making this master dissertation. Thank you for your assistance, support and endless patience. I am also thankful to the researchers and staff members in the Food Chemistry and Human Nutrition group for their technical assistance.

The financial support from The Flemish Interuniversity Council (VLIR-UOS) during my entire master studies is gratefully acknowledged.

I acknowledge Ir. Anne-Marie Remaut–De Winter and Marian Mareen for their support in many ways, encouragements and friendly attitude during my entire stay in Belgium. I am indebted to all esteemed professors of Ghent University who have shared with me the knowledge that triggered and nourished my intellectual maturity that I will benefit from, for a long time to come. I Thank all my classmates and friends for the good moments we shared.

To my late father, your words of inspiration and encouragements in pursuit of excellence still linger in my mind. To my Mummy, my sisters and brothers and their families, who have been a constant source of love, blessings, and support. I am so thankful to have you on my side pushing me when I am ready to give up. Finally, I must express my gratitude to F. Lucien Hitimana and his family, Miss Laetitia Mukarutsinzi and the members of the International Community Church of Ghent, for their continued support and encouragements. May God bless you always!

ABSTRACT

Phytosterols are known to decrease the atherogenic LDL-cholesterol. In earlier studies, free phytosterols and their fatty acid esters have been extensively studied for their cholesterol-lowering properties. However, the metabolic fate of phytosterols still need investigations. This dissertation focused on phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides. The aim was to study the digestion of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides under stomach and small intestinal conditions.

Two methods were tested for phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides extraction. Secondly, stigmasterol, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides were digested under stomach and small intestinal conditions.

Soxhlet extraction, followed by fractionation by NP-SPE was found to be suitable for phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides extraction. The pH was found to have an effect on phytosteryl ferulates. Phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides fractions and stigmasterol were tested for their stability under stomach and small intestinal conditions. The amounts of stigmasterol recovered and the RP-HPLC chromatograms showed that stigmasterol was stable under stomach and small intestinal conditions. No new peaks were detected when phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides samples were digested under stomach conditions. The disappearance of peaks and formation of new peaks, as showed by the RP-HPLC chromatograms, gave an indication that phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides samples contained compounds which were unstable under small intestinal conditions.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ABC | ATP Binding Cassette | | | |
|--------------|------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| ACAT | Acyl-CoA Cholesterol Acyl Transferase | | | |
| ANOVA | Analysis of Variance | | | |
| APPI | Atmospheric pressure photoionization | | | |
| ASG | Acylated steryl glycoside | | | |
| ATP | Adenosine Tri-Phosphate | | | |
| BEH | Ethylene Bridged Hybrid | | | |
| CaCO | Colon Adenocarcinoma Cell Line | | | |
| EB | Enzyme blank | | | |
| EU | European Union | | | |
| FDA | Food and Drug Administration | | | |
| FS | Free Sterol | | | |
| GC | Gas Chromatography | | | |
| LDL | Low Density Lipoprotein | | | |
| LOD | Limit of Detection | | | |
| LOQ | Limit of Quantitation | | | |
| LXR | Liver X Receptor | | | |
| <i>m/z</i> , | Mass/charge | | | |
| MeOH | Methanol | | | |
| MS | Mass Spectrometry | | | |
| n.d | Not Detected | | | |
| NPC1L1 | Niemann-Pick C1-Like Protein | | | |
| NP-SPE | Normal Phase Solid Phase Extraction | | | |
| RP-HPLC | Reverse Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography | | | |
| RSD | Relative Standard Deviation | | | |
| RXR | Retinoid X Receptor | | | |
| SB | Substrate blank | | | |
| SCF | Scientific Committee on Food | | | |
| SD | Standard Deviation | | | |
| SE | Steryl Ester | | | |
| SG | Steryl Glycoside | | | |
| SPE | Solid Phase Extraction | | | |
| UPLC | Ultra High Performance Chromatography | | | |
| USA | United States of America | | | |
| v/v | Volume/Volume | | | |
| w/w | Weight/Weight | | | |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENT | I |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------|
| ABSTRACT | II |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS | III |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | IV |
| LIST OF TABLES | VII |
| LIST OF FIGURES | VIII |
| CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 4 |
| 2.1 Phytosterols – Plant components | 4 |
| 2.2 Structure and classification of phytosterols | 4 |
| 2.2.1 General structure | |
| 2.2.2 Similarities between phytosterols and cholesterol | 4 |
| 2.2.3 Phytosterol conjugates | 7 |
| 2.3 Occurrence of phytosterols in foods | 7 |
| 2.3.1 Total phytosterols content in different foods | 7 |
| 2.3.2 Phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides in foods | |
| 2.4 Estimated phytosterol intake by different populations | 9 |
| 2.4.1 Phytosterol intake from natural sources | 9 |
| 2.4.2 Phytosterol-enriched products | |
| 2.5 Safety aspects concerning phytosterols | |
| 2.5.1 Effect of phytosterols on the absorption of fat-soluble (pro- | o)/ vitamins 11 |
| 2.5.2 Effect of phytosterols on hormonal metabolism | |
| 2.5.3 Views of regulatory bodies on the safety of phytosterols | |
| 2.6 Cholesterol-lowering properties of phytosterols | |
| 2.7 Proposed mechanisms by which phytosterols lower LDL-chole | esterol 14 |
| 2.7.1 Physico-chemical effects | |
| 2.7.2 Effect on hydrolysis by cholesterol esterase | |
| 2.7.3 Intra-cellular trafficking | |

| 2.8 Absorption and metabolism of phytosterols |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS |
| 3.1 Materials, reagents and enzymes |
| 3.2 Extraction of phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates |
| 3.2.1 Extraction of lipids |
| 3.2.2 Fractionation of extracted lipids into phytosteryl glycosides and phytostery |
| ferulates |
| 3.2.3 Acid-base washing of phytosteryl ferulates |
| 3.2.4 Determination of the influence of the pH on the stability and extractability o |
| phytosteryl ferulates2 |
| 3.3 Digestion of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates unde |
| stomach conditions |
| 3.4 Digestion of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under smal intestinal conditions |
| 3.5 Extraction of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates from digester |
| samples |
| 3.6 Reversed Phase-High Performance Liquid Chromatography (RP-HPLC) analysis |
| 3.7 Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography (UPLC) analysis |
| 3.8 Data analysis |
| CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION |
| 4.1 Choice of extraction method2 |
| 4.2 Effect of pH on the extractability of phytosteryl ferulates |
| 4.3 Identification of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides |
| 4.4 Limit of detection, limit of quantitation and reproducibility of the RP-HPLC method |
| used to determine stigmasterol |
| 4.4.1 Limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) |
| 4.4.2 Reproducibility |

| 4.5 Stal | bility of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under the | ne |
|-----------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| stomach | conditions | 31 |
| 4.5.1 | Stability of stigmasterol under the stomach conditions | 31 |
| 4.5.2 | Stability of phytosteryl glycosides under stomach conditions | 34 |
| 4.5.3 | Stability of phytosteryl ferulates under the stomach conditions | 37 |
| 4.6 Stal | bility of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under sma | ıll |
| intestina | l conditions | 39 |
| 4.6.1 | Stability of stigmasterol under small intestinal conditions | 39 |
| 4.6.2 | Stability of phytosteryl glycosides under small intestinal conditions | 12 |
| 4.6.3 | Stability of phytosteryl ferulates under small intestinal conditions | 15 |
| CHAPT | ER 5 CONCLUSIONS | 18 |
| CHAPT | ER 6 RECOMMENDATIONS | 19 |
| REFERE | ENCES | 50 |
| APPENI | DICES A: Chromatograms of selected ions of phytosteryl ferulates | 55 |
| APPENI | DICES B: Chromatograms of selected ions of phytosteryl glucosides | 58 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1 Average intake of naturally occurring phytosterols in different populations10 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Table 2 Effect of free sterols, sterol and stanol esters on total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and |
| cholesterol absorption |
| Table 3 RP-HPLC method gradients |
| Table 4 Comparison of lipid yields obtained using different extraction methods |
| Table 5 Change in peak areas after incubation of phytosteryl ferulates at different pHs28 |
| Table 6 The m/z ratios and retention times of the selected ions present in the phytosteryl |
| ferulates extract |
| Table 7 The m/z ratios and retention times of the selected ions present in the phytosteryl |
| glycosides extract |
| Table 8 The limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) obtained on different |
| days |
| Table 9 The RP-HPLC inter-day reproducibility 31 |
| Table 10 Stigmasterol recovery during digestion under the stomach conditions |
| Table 11 Peak areas $(mAU/10^5)$ of peaks other than stigmasterol peak detected at different |
| time points during stigmasterol digestion under stomach conditions |
| Table 12 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks detected at different time points during digestion of |
| phytosteryl glycosides under stomach conditions |
| Table 13 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks indicated as B, C, D and E detected at different time |
| points during digestion of phytosteryl glycosides under stomach conditions |
| Table 14 Peak areas (mAU/ 10^4) of peaks E detected at different time points during digestion |
| of phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions |
| Table 15 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks indicated as A, B, C, and D detected at different |
| time points during digestion of phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions |
| Table 16 Stigmasterol recovered during digestion under small intestinal conditions |
| Table 17 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks other than stigmasterol peak detected at different |
| time points during digesion under small intestinal conditions |
| Table 18 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of the peaks detected in phytosteryl glycosides samples |
| incubated without pancreatin during digestion under stomach conditions |
| Table 19 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of the peaks detected in phytosteryl glycosides samples |
| incubated with pancreatin during digestion of under stomach conditions |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1 Basic skeleton of (phyto) sterols |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Figure 2 Chemical structures of the common phytosterols and cholesterol |
| Figure 3 Examples of chemical structures of phytostanols |
| Figure 4 Examples of chemical structures of phytosterol conjugates |
| Figure 5 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl ferulates (fraction 2) obtained using |
| different methods |
| Figure 6 RP-HPLC chromatograms of stigmasterol and blanks at different time points during |
| digestion under the stomach conditions |
| Figure 7 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl glycosides and blanks at different time |
| points during digestion under the stomach conditions |
| Figure 8 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl ferulates and blanks at different time points |
| during digestion under stomach conditions |
| Figure 9 RP-HPLC chromatograms of stigmasterol and blanks at different time points during |
| digestion under small intestinal conditions |
| Figure 10 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl glycosides and blanks at different time |
| points during digestion under small intestinal conditions |
| Figure 11 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl ferulates and blanks at different time |
| points during digestion under small intestinal conditions46 |
| Figure 12 Selected ion chromatograms of sitosteryl ferulate |
| Figure 13 Selected ion chromatograms of stigmasteryl ferulate |
| Figure 14 Selected ion chromatograms of campesteryl ferulate |
| Figure 15 Selected ion chromatograms of sitosteryl glucoside |
| Figure 16 Selected ion chromatograms of stigmasteryl glucoside |
| Figure 17 Selected ion chromatograms of campesteryl glucoside70 |

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION

Phytosterols, or plant sterols, are bioactive compounds, which are naturally present in plants. They are only synthesized in plants and not in the human body (Garti & Romer, 2006), which means that phytosterols found in human body come from the diet. More than 200 different types of phytosterols have been reported to be present in different plants (Farre *et al.*, 2006; Piironen *et al.*, 2000a). Phytosterols are heterogeneous compounds, but the three most abundant forms of phytosterols in foods are β -sitosterol, stigmasterol and campesterol (Amiot *et al.*, 2011; Moreau *et al.*, 2002). In some literature, the term "phytosterols" is collectively used to denote both phytosterols and their saturated forms, phytostanols. As an example, sitostanol is the saturated form of sitosterol, whereas saturation of campesterol gives rise to campestanol.

Phytosterols can occur as free sterols (FS) (phytosterol with a free hydroxyl group), and as steryl esters (SE) of fatty acids or phenolic acids, mostly ferulic acid. They can also form glycosidic linkages with sugars giving rise to phytosteryl glycosides (SG), which in turn may be esterified with a fatty acid to form acylated steryl glycosides (ASG) (Habib-Jiwan *et al.*, 2003; Nystrom *et al.*, 2007b). SE, SG and ASG are also called phytosterol conjugates.

Phytosterols and cholesterol are structurally related. The only differences are the modifications at C-24 position of the hydrophobic carbon chain of phytosterols. However, in spite of the structural similarities, the absorption efficiency of phytosterols and that of cholesterol in humans is different. The percent absorption of phytosterols ranges from 2-5% (Ostlund *et al.*, 2002a) while that of cholesterol is nearly 60% (Bosner *et al.*, 1999).

Phytosterols have received attention because of their health benefits. Several studies have demonstrated their ability to lower serum total and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels in the human body (Demonty *et al.*, 2009; Scholle *et al.*, 2009; Weststrate & Meijer, 1998). However, the exact mechanisms by which phytosterols reduce the absorption of cholesterol are not fully understood (Hearty *et al.*, 2009). Pelletier *et al.* (1995) and Jones *et al.* (1997) reported that up to 10% and 15% reduction of total and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, respectively, could be achieved by consuming phytosterol-enriched diet. Phytosterols reduce the LDL-cholesterol levels in a dose-dependent manner (Richelle *et al.*, 2004). However, there is no additional effect from an intake above 3g/day (Ostlund, 2002).

The form of phytosterols is of vital importance for their bioactivity as well as for their technological applications (Piironen *et al.*, 2002). Phytosterols are thought to be effective in

inhibiting cholesterol absorption in their free form (Christiansen *et al.*, 2001b). However, free phytosterols are insoluble in water and marginally soluble in fats (Salo & Wester, 2005). Attempts to improve their solubility included emulsification of free phytosterols in lecithin (Ostlund *et al.*, 1999), use of microcrystalline form (Christiansen *et al.*, 2001b) and microencapsulated form of free phytosterols (Quilez *et al.*, 2003a).

Esterification of free phytosterols and phytostanols with fatty acids was used in order to increase their solubility in lipids and to be able to incorporate them into lipid-based food products such as margarines, spreads and salad dressings (Jandacek *et al.*, 1977; Quilez *et al.*, 2003a). The esterification of free phytosterols and phytostanols increased their solubility by a ten-fold and provided a means of administering reasonable amount of phytosterols necessary to reduce cholesterol absorption (Salo & Wester, 2005).

In addition to free phytosterols and their fatty acid esters, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides are other bioactive forms of phytosterols. Because of their polar groups, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides may be solubilized in aqueous food products, and as such, they could be another alternative to deliver phytosterols. Besides the cholesterol-lowering effect of phytosteryl ferulates (Orthoefer, 2004), the latter also possess anti-oxidation properties (Kim *et al.*, 2001; Nystrom *et al.*, 2007a; Nystrom *et al.*, 2005). Their anti-inflammation properties were also reported by Akihisa *et al.* (2000) but not extensively studied. On the other hand, the bioactivity of phytosteryl glycosides in humans was studied by Lin *et al.* (2009). The results of their study indicated that phytosteryl glycosides reduce cholesterol absorption by 37.6%. This effect was also reported in other studies that used free phytosterols or phytosterol esters (Law, 2000; Vanstone *et al.*, 2002).

In some foods, especially in cereals (Nystrom *et al.*, 2007b), considerable amounts of the total phytosterols occur as phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates. In whole wheat flour and cornmeal, they make up to 25% and 55% of the total sterol content, respectively (Nystrom *et al.*, 2007b). Taken altogether, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides are worth attention.

Objectives of the research

Overall objective

The overall aim of this research is to study the behavior of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides in the upper gastro-intestinal tract.

Specific objectives

In order to achieve the aim, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides had to be extracted from wheat germs before they could be digested. Then, their behavior under stomach and small intestinal conditions was studied.

Chapter 2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Phytosterols – Plant components

Phytosterols are widely found in plant kingdom where they play different roles. It has been found that phytosterols are precursors of plant hormones (e.g. brassinosteroids) that play a role in the embryonic growth and development of plants (Schrick *et al.*, 2002; Yokota, 1997). Phytosterols are important structural elements of plant cells where they act as cell membrane reinforcers (Ribeiro *et al.*, 2007), and like cholesterol in vertebrates, they stabilize phospholipid bilayers in the plant cell membrane by regulating its fluidity and permeability (Hartmann, 1998).

2.2 Structure and classification of phytosterols

2.2.1 General structure

The general structure of phytosterols consists of a five-membered ring skeleton with an hydroxyl group at the C-3 position of the A-ring, and an alkyl side chain attached to the C-17 of the D-ring (Figure 1). Phytosterols are divided into three groups according to the number of methyl groups present on the C-4 position. Those lacking a methyl group are referred to as 4-desmethylsterols, whereas 4-monomethylsterols and 4-dimethylsterols have one and two methyl groups, respectively (Moreau *et al.*, 2002a). Based on the presence or absence of a double bond in their ring skeleton, phytosterols are divided into two classes: (1) phytosterols, with a double bond in their ring skeleton (figure 2), and (2) phytostanols, which have a α -reduced double bond (figure 3). Phytostanols are obtained by hydrogenation of phytosterols either by plant enzymes or during industrial hydrogenation (Bradford & Awad, 2007).

Phytosterols may also be classified into $\Delta 5$ -sterols and $\Delta 7$ -sterols based on the position of the double bond in their ring skeleton. The former class of phytosterols is predominant in foods as compared to the latter (Breinholder *et al.*, 2002). Figure 2 illustrates the structures of the phytosterols most commonly found in foods, and of cholesterol.

2.2.2 Similarities between phytosterols and cholesterol

Phytosterols are exclusively synthesized in plants (Garti & Romer, 2006) but they are closely related to cholesterol. Cholesterol is an essential sterol which is produced in animals, including humans. Chemically, the structure of phytosterol resembles that of cholesterol except that phytosterols contain an additional aliphatic side chain at C-24 position (Amiot *et al.*, 2011) and, in some cases, an unsaturated bond at the C-22 position. For example, both

stigmasterol and situaterol have an ethyl group at C-24, whereas campesterol has a methyl group at the same position (figure 2).



Figure 1 Basic skeleton of (phyto) sterols



Figure 2 Chemical structures of the common phytosterols and cholesterol (Δ 5-sterols and Δ 7-sterol); 1=sitosterol, 2=campesterol, 3=cholesterol, 4= stigmasterol, 5= Δ 7-stigmasterol. Source: Moreau *et al.* (2002)



Figure 3 Examples of chemical structures of phytostanols. 1=Sitostanol, 2=campestanol; Source: Breinholder *et al.* (2002)



Figure 4 Examples of chemical structures of phytosterol conjugates. Source: Moreau *et al.* (2002)

2.2.3 Phytosterol conjugates

Phytosterol conjugates refer to the forms of phytosterols in which the hydroxyl group at C-3 position of free phytosterols is coverently bound with another compound. The first type of phytosterol conjugates are formed when the hydroxyl group is linked with an fatty acid to form fatty acid esters. The second type of phytosterol conjugates known as phytosteryl glycosides, are formed through a β -glycosidic bond between the hydroxyl group of free phytosterols and a sugar (mostly glucose). The hydroxyl group at C-6 position of glucose moiety may also be esterified with a fatty acid to form acylated phytosteryl glucoside. The fourth type of phytosterol conjugates are esters of free phytosterols and hydroxycinnamic acids (mostly ferulic and *p*-coumaric acid). Some examples of phytosterol conjugates are shown in the figure 4.

2.3 Occurrence of phytosterols in foods

2.3.1 Total phytosterols content in different foods

Phytosterols are naturally found in the regular human diet particularly in plant food items in which they occur as part of the lipid fraction (Farre *et al.*, 2006). Phytosterols occur as free sterols or as phytosterol derivatives (Breinholder *et al.*, 2002). β -sitosterol, stigmasterol and campesterol are the most abundant phytosterols in foods and make 95% of the total phytosterols (Maguire *et al.*, 2004). Out of these, β -sitosterol is predominant (Farre *et al.*, 2006; Normen *et al.*, 2002). Phytosterols gained research attention due to their physiological effects. As a result thereof, their levels in different foods, whether natural or added, have been determined and reviewed (Farre *et al.*, 2006; Phillips *et al.*, 2005; Piironen *et al.*, 2000b).

The sources of dietary of phytosterols include vegetable oils (especially unrefined oils), nuts, legumes, cereals (wheat, rye, corn, rice), fruits and vegetables (Farre *et al.*, 2006). Vegetable oils are the richest natural sources of phytosterols, followed by cereals and cereal products (Piironen *et al.*, 2000a). Among vegetable oils analysed by Piironen *et al.* (2000b), rapeseed and maize oils had total phytosterol content higher than 700 mg/100 g. Gupta *et al.* (2011) reported that the levels of phytosterols found in wheat germ, corn, rapeseed oils were 919 mg/100 g, 909 mg/100 g and 666 mg/100 g, respectively.

Compared to vegetable oils, the total sterol content in cereals is low. Piironen *et al.* (2002) compared the phytosterol (free and bound sterols) content of the main cereals i.e. rye, wheat, barley, oats, grown in the same year in Finland. The results of their study indicated that phytosterol content of rye was the highest with 95.5 mg/100 g on average. The phytosterol content of wheat, barley, and oats was found to be 69.0 mg/100 g, 76.1 mg/100 g and 44.7

mg/100 g, respectively. Sitosterol was reported to be predominant accounting for 90% of the total phytosterol content in all cereals (Piironen *et al.*, 2002). Similar results on the phytosterol content of rye were also reported in a study by Nystrom *et al.* (2007b). The total phytosterol content of wheat, on the other hand, was slightly higher (78.3 mg/100 g) than was reported by Piironen *et al.* (2002). However, due to the high consumption of cereals and cereal products (Cordain, 1999), the latter may supply about 40% of daily intake of phytosterols (Valsta *et al.*, 2004). In a study by Normen *et al.* (2002), the total phytosterol content in cereal products ranged between 4.1-200 mg/100 g. Bread and other cereal products have been found to be the major contributors to phytosterol intake in Belgium (Sioen *et al.*, 2011).

Although vegetable oils and cereals are known to be the richest sources of phytosterols, the data show that the consumption of fruits and vegetables with relatively low amounts of phytosterols also contribute considerably to the total phytosterol intake (Han *et al.*, 2008; Normen *et al.*, 1999). A study by Han *et al.* (2008) indicated that per 100 g edible portion, the total phytosterol contents in fruits and vegetables ranged from 1.6–32.6 mg and from 1.1–53.7 mg, respectively. Among the fruits and vegetables studied, mango, navel orange, tangerine, pea, cauliflower and broccoli were found to contain high amount of phytosterols (Han *et al.*, 2008). Piironen *et al.* (2000b) also reported that the phytosterol content of vegetables ranged from 5–37 mg/100 g and from 250–410 mg/100 g on fresh weight and dry weight basis, respectively. Phytosterol content in fruits and berries ranged from 6–75 mg/100 g on fresh weight basis and from 37–293 mg/100 g on dry weight basis (Piironen *et al.*, 2000b).

In addition to the natural sources, phytosterol-enriched food products are currently available on the market and constitute another important source of phytosterols (Amiot *et al.*, 2011). The first phytosterol-enriched product was a spread but salad dressing, milk, yoghurt, soy and fruit drinks among others to which phytosterols have been added are also available at the EU market (Weingartner *et al.*, 2009).

2.3.2 Phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides in foods

Phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides are less studied. It is speculated that this might be due the their absence or the fact that they are barely present in vegetable oils which is the most studied sources of phytosterols (Nystrom *et al.*, 2007b). Popov *et al.* (1975) reported that phytosteryl glycosides could not be detected after refining crude sunflower and corn oils initially containing 30-50 mg/ 100 g of these compounds. Another study by Yoon and Kim (1994) also reported that more than 50% of γ -oryzanol, a mixture of phytosteryl

ferulates isolated from rice bran oils is removed by degumming, alkali refining, bleaching and deodorization (Islam *et al.*, 2008).

However, the proportions of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides are considerable in foods. According to Nystrom *et al.* (2007b), each form may represent about 10–15% of the total sterol content in cereals. In their study, the same authors found that the amount of phytosteryl glycosides in wheat and rye grains was 7.5 mg/100 g and 8.3 mg/100 g on dry weight basis, respectively (Nystrom *et al.*, 2007b). The authors further reported that the concentration of phytosteryl ferulates was 5.2 mg/100 g and 4.4 mg/100 g in wheat and rye, respectively (Nystrom *et al.*, 2007b). Phillips *et al.* (2005) analyzed the steryl glucosides in different foods and dietary supplements and found that sitosteryl, campesteryl and stigmasteryl glucosides ranged from 9-37% of the total sterol content. Recently, β -sitosterol glucoside was found to be 24.3 mg/100 g in fleshly harvested broccoli (Gajewski *et al.*, 2011).

2.4 Estimated phytosterol intake by different populations

2.4.1 Phytosterol intake from natural sources

The dietary phytosterols intake among different populations ranges from 160-400 mg/day (Ahrens & Boucher, 1978; Han *et al.*, 2007; Jones *et al.*, 1997). However, intake may vary among people. In a nutritional survey by Cerqueira *et al.* (1979), a daily intake of more than 400 mg of phytosterols was recorded in the Tarahumara Indians of Mexico whose diet contains high amounts of beans and corn. Given the differences in culture and dietary patterns, it is not surprising that the intake of phytosterols differs between countries and within individuals or population groups depending on the type and the amount of food consumed. Table 1 shows the estimated average daily intake of naturally occurring phytosterols in some countries. In this table, phytosterol intake is expressed as the sum of individual free phytosterols.

Phytosterol intake depends on the type of food consumed. Vegetarians may consume more phytosterols (Jenkins *et al.*, 2003; Piironen *et al.*, 2000a). According to Slavin (2004), the vegetarians' diet may supply up to 500 mg of phytosterols daily. Nair *et al.* (1984) compared the phytosterol intake of Seventh-day Adventists (SDA) pure vegetarians, SDA lacto-ovo vegetarians, SDA non-vegetarians and non-vegetarians from the general population in the United States. The ingested (β -sitosterol + stigmasterol)/cholesterol ratio was found to be the highest (16.0) in SDA pure vegetarians. In SDA lacto-ovo vegetarians, the ratio was 3.3, compared to 1.1 in SDA non-vegetarians. In non-vegetarians from the general population, the

ingested (β -sitosterol + stigmasterol)/cholesterol ratio was found to be 0.5. This shows that vegetarians' phytosterol intake is higher compared to non-vegetarians.

| | Intake of naturally occurring phytosterols (mg/day) | | | | |
|--------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|--------------|-------------|----------------------------|--|
| Country(year) | Population | Men | Women | Reference | |
| Belgium (2004) | _ | 301(131) | 229(98) | Sioen et al. (2011) | |
| China (2002) | 322.41(-) | _ | _ | Han <i>et al.</i> (2007) | |
| Finland (1997) | _ | 305(-) | 237(-) | Valsta et al. (2004) | |
| UK (2004) | _ | 310(108) | 303(100) | Andersson et al. (2004) | |
| Japan (1957–1982) | 373(-) | _ | _ | Hirai <i>et al.</i> (1986) | |
| The Netherlands | | | | | |
| (1986) | _ | 307.3(103.9) | 262.9(83.7) | Normen et al. (2001) | |
| Mexico (1973–1974) | _ | 473(67) | 402(34) | Cerqueira et al. (1979) | |
| | | | | Jimenez-Escrig et al. | |
| Spain (2000) | 276(-) | _ | - | (2006) | |

Table 1 Average intake of naturally occurring phytosterols in different populations

SD= standard deviation

2.4.2 Phytosterol-enriched products

In addition to the natural sources, phytosterol-enriched food products are currently available in many countries worldwide (Moreau *et al.*, 2002) and constitute another important source of phytosterols in the human diet (Amiot *et al.*, 2011). In this category of products, Benecol® and Take Control® margarines were the first to be marketed for lowering of cholesterol. Benecol® (Raisio Plc., Raisio, Finland) was launched in Finland in 1995 and contains 1650 mg phytostanol esters per serving (Bradford & Awad, 2007). The recommended daily intake of Benecol and Benecol products with added phytosterols (fresh cheese, salad dressing, yoghurt and snack bars) is based on 2 g phytostanols (SCF, 2002). Take Control® was first introduced in the USA in 1999 by Unilever. It contains 850 mg phytosterol esters per serving (Bradford & Awad, 2007). In the same year and later in 2000, Take Control® margarine was marketed (under the brand Flora/Becel Pro.Activ) in Australia, New Zealand, Brazil and Switzerland and in the EU. The recommended intake was 28 g/ day, providing 2.2 g phytosterol esters (SCF, 2002). Examples of products with added phytosterol/ phytostanols that are available at the EU market include yellow fat spreads, milk type products, cheese type products, cream cheese, rye bread, etc.(EFSA, 2008).

2.5 Safety aspects concerning phytosterols

At present time, the trend of enrichment of food products with phytosterols is becoming popular (Hearty *et al.*, 2009). Like any other substance present in food that may have effect on the consumer health, phytosterols also pose a public health concern. The areas of concern about the consumption of phytosterols are their effects on the serum levels of phytosterols, on fat-soluble vitamins and on the sex hormones (Tikkanen, 2005).

The safety concern regarding the effect of phytosterols on the serum phytosterols and phytostanols concentrations arises from the insight that elevated serum phytosterols is associated with accelerated atherosclerosis and premature coronary heart disease (Bhattacharyya & Connor, 1974; Lee *et al.*, 2001a) in a rare autosomally inherited lipid metabolic disorder called phytosterolemia or sitosterolemia. Sitosterolemic patients are marked with high blood levels of phytosterols due to hyperabsorption and decreased excretion of phytosterols into the bile (Lee *et al.*, 2001a).

2.5.1 Effect of phytosterols on the absorption of fat-soluble (pro)/ vitamins

Fat-soluble vitamins and other fat-soluble nutrients are absorbed along with lipids in the gastro-intestinal tract. The interference in the intestinal absorption and reduction in carotenoids levels in blood has been reported as being some of the undesired effect of phytosterols (Quilez *et al.*, 2003a).

From the study by Judd *et al.* (2002), it was concluded that the consumption of salad dressing containing phytosterols results in a significant reduction in α - and β -carotene and β -cryptoxanthin in the blood. In a randomized parallel-controlled study by Maki *et al.* (2001), the concentration of lycopene (0.10 µmol/L) was found to be out of the US National Health and Nutrition Survey reference range (0.13–0.83 µmol/L) after phytosterol intervention. The authors also reported significant reductions in blood α - and β -carotenoid concentrations in blood even though the values remained within the reference range (Maki *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, Weststrate and Meijer (1998a) also found that the consumption of 3 g/day of phytosterol esters resulted in reductions of plasma lycopene (from 85 µg/L to 63 µg/L) and in α - and β -carotenoids levels (from 220 µg/L to 168 µg/L) in normocholesterolemic and mildly hypercholesterolemic individuals. Hendriks *et al.* (1999) also reported that the consumption of spreads providing 0.83, 1.61, 3.24 g of phytosterols reduced α - and β -carotene by 12%, 11% and 19%, respectively. The consumption of 1.61 and 3.24 g of phytosterols decreased α – tocopherol by 6 and 8%, respectively (Hendriks *et al.*, 1999).

The data on the effect of phytosterols on fat-soluble nutrients are equivocal. As previously discussed, some studies show that the consumption of phytosterol or phytostanol esters decreases the concentration of fat-soluble (pro) vitamins in blood. However, other studies suggest that these nutrients remain unaffected (Raeini-Sarjaz *et al.*, 2002). Hallikainen *et al.* (1999) investigated the effect of low-fat margarines enriched with phytostanol esters on the concentrations of serum carotenoids. From their study, no change in serum retinol concentration was reported after daily consumption of 2.3 g of phytostanol esters for 8 weeks. The authors further concluded that low-fat stanol ester do not significantly lower neither the concentration of lycopene nor that of α - and β -carotene. In another study by Gylling and Miettinen (1999), it was also found that when phytostanol esters were consumed, the serum retinol and vitamin D concentrations as well as α -tocopherol/cholesterol ratio remained unchanged. According to Hendriks *et al.* (1999), the consumption of spreads enriched with phytosterols does not decrease the plasma concentration of vitamins K1 and D.

In any case, the possible negative effect of phytosterol consumption on the fat-soluble vitamins should not be ruled out. Therefore, it is suggested that human studies that investigate the cholesterol-lowering effect of phytosterols should be optimized in such a way to effectively lower the blood cholesterol levels while minimizing the effect on other fat-soluble nutrients (Hendriks *et al.*, 1999). In addition, the possible decrease in plasma carotenoids levels can be compensated for by taking more fruits and green leafy vegetables and other good sources of carotenoids while taking phytosterol-enriched products (Noakes *et al.*, 2002; Quilez *et al.*, 2003c).

For the sake of consumer protection, the EU Commission Regulation (EC) No 608/2004 concerning phytosterol-enriched products made it obligatory for food industry to label those products in order to allow users to control their intake. In this regulation, particular attention is paid to children under the age of five years, pregnant and lactating women. Moreover, it is stated that a daily intake of more than 3 g phytosterols/phytostanols should be avoided. (http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32004R0608:EN:HTML).

2.5.2 Effect of phytosterols on hormonal metabolism

Some animal studies suggest that phytosterols may have estrogenic effects (Maclatchy & Vanderkraak, 1995; Mellanen *et al.*, 1996) probably due to the resemblance of their ring structure with that of estrogens (Tikkanen, 2005). Mellanen *et al.* (1996) have reported development of infertility when fish were exposed to high levels of wood pulp containing sitosterol. However, an extensive safety evaluation by Baker *et al.* (1999) using *in vitro* and *in*

vivo assays indicates that phytosterols do not bind to estrogen receptors. The authors further reported that phytosterols do not stimulate the transcriptional activity of the human estrogen receptors in a recombinant yeast strain.

A number of clinical studies have concluded that phytosterols are clinically safe when consumed within the recommended intake of 1.5-3.0 g/ day (SCF, 2002). In a study by Hendriks *et al.* (2003), both efficacy and safety of long-term consumption of phytosterol esters-enriched spread were evaluated in 185 individuals. Changes in sex hormone levels in blood served as safety markers. The results of this study reported no hormonal change in males and females after a daily consumption of 20 g of spread enriched with 1.6 g phytosterol for a period of one year. The authors reported that the consumption of spreads enriched with phytosterols is safe and can be used for an extended period of time. In another study, the consumption of 8.6 g phytosterols per day for a period of 21 and 28 consecutive days in males and females, respectively, did not have any effect on serum reproductive hormone levels in females (Weststrate *et al.*, 1999b).

2.5.3 Views of regulatory bodies on the safety of phytosterols

As far as safety is concerned, short-term studies (Hendriks *et al.*, 1999; Volpe *et al.*, 2001) and a one-year follow up study (Hendriks *et al.*, 2003) did not report any adverse effect of phytosterols. In the USA, phytosterols and phytostanols possess the GRAS (generally recognized as safe) status issued by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) which approved spreads that contain 20% of phytosterols and their esters (FDA, 2000; Quilez *et al.*, 2003a). After a thorough review of the safety of phytosterols, the European Union Scientific Committee on Food (SCF) also confirmed that phytosterols are safe for human consumption and authorized marketing of products with added phytosterols and phytostanols and their esters (SCF, 2000). Nevertheless, as a precaution, the consumption of high doses is not advised due to some negative effects as discussed in the previous section. De Jong *et al.* (2004) suggested that surveillance is necessary and safety studies should be done on consumption of doses above 8.6 g given that consumers are becoming exposed to large variety of phytosterol-

2.6 Cholesterol-lowering properties of phytosterols

High blood cholesterol concentration is regarded as one of the risk factors for coronary heart diseases (CHD) (Ebrahim *et al.*, 1998; Tanasescu *et al.*, 2004). In the last decade, phytosterols/phytostanols and their esters have attracted the interest of researchers due to their

effectiveness in the reduction of intestinal absorption of cholesterol (Ostlund *et al.*, 2002b; Plat *et al.*, 2000). These natural compounds are used as plant-based, alternative to drug therapy (Garti & Romer, 2006) and one of the dietary options to reduce blood cholesterol (Mussner *et al.*, 2002; Pollak, 1953).

The cholesterol-lowering effect of phytosterols has been known since the 1950s (Pollak, 1953). Since then, several studies have been conducted to investigate this effect. Different types of phytosterols, i.e. free phytosterols/phytostanols and their esters have been administered in different doses using different food formats. Table 1 shows the effect of phytosterols/ phytostanols consumption on the serum total and LDL-cholesterol concentration and cholesterol absorption. Evidence from numerous clinical trials indicates that a daily consumption of at least 0.8 g of phytosterols/phytostanols is effective for the total and LDL-cholesterol reduction (Hendriks *et al.*, 1999; Miettinen & Vanhanen, 1994). Additionally, several studies that have compared their efficacy, concluded that phytosterols are as effective as phytostanols in reducing the serum total and LDL-cholesterol (Hallikainen *et al.*, 2000; Vanstone *et al.*, 2002; Volpe *et al.*, 2001; Weststrate & Meijer, 1998).

As it can be seen in table 2, different studies achieved different results in regard to the reduction of blood cholesterol. As reviewed by Quilez *et al.* (2003a), 15% is the maximum LDL-cholesterol reduction that can be achieved at a daily intake of 1.5-3 g phytosterols. According to Berger *et al.* (2004), the difference in the percent reduction is partly due to the difference in the solubility of phytosterols in the food vehicles used for phytosterol administration. In a study by Clifton et al. (2004), phytosterol esters were more effective when solubilized in low-fat milk than in breads and cereals.

2.7 Proposed mechanisms by which phytosterols lower LDL-cholesterol

Despite the scientific evidence of cholesterol-lowering properties of phytosterols, the principles of the underlying mechanism are still poorly understood. However, several theories have been suggested (Trautwein *et al.*, 2003) based on the different stages of cholesterol absorption.

2.7.1 Physico-chemical effects

2.7.1.1 Competitive solubilization between phytosterols and cholesterol in dietary mixed

micelles

For the dietary cholesterol to be efficiently absorbed, cholesterol needs to be in its unconjugated form. Therefore, its esters must first be hydrolysed by pancreatic cholesterol

| Phytosterols | Vehicle | # Study population | Dose (g/day) | Duration (weeks) | Effect | Reference |
|---------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Plant sterols | Margarine | 95 | 3.2 | 3.5 | ↓ TC 8%, ↓ LDL 13% | Weststrate and Meijer (1998) |
| | | | 0.8 | | ↓ TC 4.9%, ↓ LDL 6.7% | |
| Free sterols | Spread | 100 | 1.6 | 3.5 | ↓ TC 5.9%, ↓ LDL 8.5% | |
| | | | 3.2 | | ↓ TC 6.8%, ↓ LDL 9.9% | Hendriks et al. (1999) |
| Free sterols | Spread | 15 | 18 | 3 | ↓ LDL 13%, ↓ C-abs 36% | |
| Plant stanols | Spread | 15 | 1.0 | 5 | \downarrow LDL 6%, \downarrow C-abs 26% | Jones et al. (2000) |
| Plant sterols | Margarine | 60 | 2.1 | 3 | ↓ TC 5%, ↓ LDL 9% | Vissers et al. (2000) |
| Starol astars | Spread | 224 | 1.1 | 5 | ↓ TC 5.2%, ↓ LDL 7.6% | |
| Steror esters | Spread | 224 | 2.2 | 5 | ↓ TC 6.6%, ↓ LDL 8.1% | Maki et al. (2001) |
| Plant sterols | Ground beef | 34 | 2.7 | 4 | ↓ TC 9.3%, ↓ LDL 14.6% | Matvienko et al. (2002) |
| Plant sterols | Bakery products (croissant, muffin) | 57 | 3.2 | 8 | ↓ TC 5.5%, ↓ LDL 10.4% | Quilez et al. (2003b) |
| | Limonade | | | | ↓ C-abs 32% | |
| Plant stanols | Egg white | 21 | 1.9 | 10 | ↓ C-abs 38% | Spilburg et al. (2003) |
| | Milk | | | | ↓ TC 8.7%, ↓ LDL 15.9% | |
| Starol astars | Yoghurt | 58 | 16 | 3 | ↓ TC 5.6 %, ↓ LDL 8.6% | |
| Steror esters | Bread | 50 | 1.0 | 5 | ↓ LDL 6.5% | |
| | Cereal | | | | ↓ LDL 5.4% | Clifton <i>et al.</i> (2004) |
| Plant sterols | Yoghurt | 184 | | 4 | ↓ LDL 9.4% | Doornbos et al. (2006) |
| Diant starols | Fermented mill | 116 | 16 | 3 | ↓ LDL 7.91% | |
| Fiant sterois | r'ennemeu mink | 110 | 1.0 | 6 | ↓ LDL 9.44% | Mannarino et al. (2009) |

Table 2 Effect of free sterols, sterol and stanol esters on total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and cholesterol absorption

 \downarrow = reduction; TC= total cholesterol; LDL= low density lipoprotein; C-abs= cholesterol absorption

esterase into free cholesterol which is subsequently solubilized in the bile to form mixed micelles (Brown et al., 2010). Likewise, solubilization of free phytosterols in the mixed micelles is the first requirement (Armstrong & Carey, 1987) in order to get to the brushborder membrane and to be absorbed into the circulation (Haikal et al., 2008). A mixed micelle is an amphiphilic mixture of bile salts, fatty acids, phospholipids, and free cholesterol. Micelle play an important role in the absorption of lipophilic compounds, by incorporating them into the apolar core and transporting them toward the intestinal brush-border membrane (Trautwein et al., 2003). It is thought that phytosterols exhibit their cholesterol-lowering properties through competitive incorporation into mixed micelles. This belief was examined in vivo (Ikeda & Sugano, 1983; Ikeda et al., 1989) and in vitro (Mel'nikov et al., 2004) by using radioactive phytosterols in order to study the competitive solubilization between phytosterols and cholesterol in the mixed micelles. From these experiments, the authors found that phytosterols exhibited a greater affinity for micellar solubilization than cholesterol, and displaced cholesterol from the mixed micelles. Similarly, a study by Jesch and Carr (2006) also indicated that phytosterols limit the incorporation of cholesterol into the mixed micelles, hence decreasing its access to the brush border membrane for absorption

2.7.1.2 Co-crystallization of cholesterol and phytosterols

Another molecular mechanism by which phytosterols could lower cholesterol absorption is thought to be the co-crystallization of phytosterols and cholesterol during lipid digestion which leads to the formation of poorly absorbable mixed crystals. The co-crystallization phenomenon was demonstrated by Christiansen *et al.* (2001a). In their study, mixed crystals were formed upon solvent (ethanol) evaporation from a mixed solution of cholesterol: β sitosterol (β -sitosterol < 80% by weight). Hence, it is suggested that the formation of nonabsorbable complex or mixed crystals between phytosterols and cholesterol might inhibit the intestinal absorption of cholesterol. However, there is no information available regarding cocrystallisation under *in vivo* conditions. Moreover, the findings of Christiansen *et al.* (2001a) further demonstrated that sitostanol does not co-crystallize to the same degree as sitosterol when mixed with cholesterol. Due to the fact that β -sitosterol and sitostanol behave differently with respect to the formation of mixed crystals with cholesterol, it is assumed that, even if co-crystallization between phytosterols and cholesterol may occur in *in vivo* conditions, it would have little importance in the overall phytosterol-induced reduction of intestinal cholesterol absorption (Mel'nikov *et al.*, 2004; Trautwein *et al.*, 2003).

2.7.2 Effect on hydrolysis by cholesterol esterase

Of the total cholesterol consumed daily, 20% occur as cholesterol ester (Garti & Romer, 2006). As already mentioned, dietary cholesterol ester must be hydrolysed by pancreatic cholesterol esterase prior to its absorption in enterocytes. According to Ikeda *et al.* (2002), pancreatic cholesterol esterase accelerates cholesterol absorption by hydrolyzing and releasing free cholesterol from other lipids such as phospholipids (e.g. phosphatidylcholine). Phytosterol fatty esters may serve as substrates for the marginal specific cholesterol esterase due to the structural similarities with the cholesterol esters (Ikeda *et al.*, 2002; Trautwein *et al.*, 2003). This is also supported by Moreau and Hicks (2004) who demonstrated that the same enzyme is responsible for the hydrolysis of phytosterol esters. Phytosterol esters can competitively interact with the enzyme, thereby limiting its activity towards cholesterol esters. As a result, the amount of absorbable cholesterol from the diet is reduced. It is also suggested that if the enzyme does not hydrolyse the lipophilic phytosterol esters, they will remain in the intestinal lumen, thereby serving as a solvent for other lipophilic compounds, cholesterol and its esters inclusive. By doing so, part of dietary and hepatic cholesterol can be transported to the distal intestine where absorption is limited or even impossible (Trautwein *et al.*, 2003).

2.7.3 Intra-cellular trafficking

Intra-cellular trafficking of cholesterol describes the process by which cholesterol is transported from the intestinal lumen to lymph. This process can be divided into two steps (Garti & Romer, 2006):

- 1) Passage through the epithelial layer of the intestinal mucosa and
- 2) Re-esterification in the intestinal mucosal cell

2.7.3.1 Competition between cholesterol and phytosterols for cholesterol transporters

There is evidence that cholesterol uptake from the mixed micelle to the enterocytes is a protein mediated process. The Niemann-Pick C 1-Like 1 (NPC1L1) protein localized in the small intestine brush border membrane was found to be the primary cholesterol transporter (Altmann *et al.*, 2004). Based on their structural resemblance, phytosterols instead of cholesterol could be transported into the enterocytes, hence decreasing absorption of cholesterol (Trautwein *et al.*, 2003).

Another transporter protein, ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter A 1 (ABCA1), which is expressed in small intestine (Vasiliou *et al.*, 2009), has also been shown to be involved in cholesterol transport across the cell membrane. It has been demonstrated by Plat and Mensink

(2002) that the incorporation of sitostanol into *in vitro* prepared micelles induced ABCA1 gene expression and led to transport of free cholesterol back to the intestinal lumen. This concept was also supported by Yu *et al.* (2002), who indicated that over-expression of ATP-binding cassette G5 (ABCG5) and ATP-binding cassette G8 (ABCG8) in transgenic mice resulted in 50% reduction in cholesterol absorption. ABCG5 and ABCG8 are two-half transporters of the ABC transporter family (Trautwein *et al.*, 2003). Phytosterols have been shown to activate liver X receptor (LXR) and retinoid X receptor (RXR) which regulate ABCA1 gene expression (Janowski *et al.*, 1996; Plat *et al.*, 2005).

2.7.3.2 Inhibition of acyl coenzyme A cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) activity

Intestinal acyl coenzyme A cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) has been found to play an important role in cholesterol and, to a lesser extent, sitosterol esterification in the enterocytes (Buhman *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2000b). The resulting esters are packaged into the chylomicrons and thereafter secreted into the lymph (Garti & Romer, 2006; Hernandez *et al.*, 2000). An *in vitro* study by Field and Mathur (1983) demonstrated that ACAT-induced esterification of cholesterol is 60 times higher than that of phytosterols. Because they are poorly esterified, free phytosterols accumulate in the enterocytes, and impair the ACAT activity leading to the reduction in cholesterol esterification (Garti & Romer, 2006). As a result, the amount of cholesterol esters to be incorporated in chylomicron will be reduced. This suggestion is supported by the evidence that ACAT inhibition resulted in reduced cholesterol absorption in rats (Krause *et al.*, 1993) and in the intestinal cell line CaCo-2 (Field *et al.*, 2001).

2.8 Absorption and metabolism of phytosterols

The absorption of phytosterols appears to occur under the same conditions as that of cholesterol because the hydrolysis of cholesterol and phytosterol esters requires the same enzymes (Brown *et al.*, 2010; Garti & Romer, 2006). However, in contrast to cholesterol, the absorption of phytosterols in low. While between 30–60% of dietary cholesterol is absorbed, the absorption of campesterol ranges between 9.4–14.8%. It is 3 times higher than that of sitosterol (3.1-4.5%) and stigmasterol between (4%) (Bosner *et al.*, 1999). The differences in the absorption efficiency of phytosterols are attributed to their molecular structure. It increases with the presence of the double bond between C5-C6 and decreases as the number of carbon atoms in the side chain increases (Heinemann *et al.*, 1993; Ostlund *et al.*, 2002a).

There is limited information regarding the distribution of phytosterols in different body tissues. In a study by Sanders *et al.* (2000), labeled phytosterols were found in adrenal glands, ovaries, testis and intestinal epithelia of animals. It has been reported that phytosterols are converted into cholesterol, then steroid hormones or bile acids (Douglass *et al.*, 1981; Svoboda *et al.*, 1980) in prawns and insects. Although Salen *et al.* (1970) reported the conversion of intravenously administered [22, 23-³H]sitosterol into cholic and chenodeoxycholic acid in humans, later animal and human studies could not prove the conversion of phytosterols neither into cholesterol nor normal C₂₄-bile acids (Boberg *et al.*, 1990; Lund *et al.*, 1991). Rather phytosterols were excreted as polar compounds, namely diand trihydroxylated C₂₁-derivatives (Boberg *et al.*, 1990). Phytosterols and cholesterol are excreted via the biliary route (Igel *et al.*, 2003; Sanders *et al.*, 2000). This process is more rapid for phytosterols via bile explain their low concentration in serum of healthy individuals, as opposed to sitosterolemic individuals (Piironen *et al.*, 2000a).

In the small intestine, small amount of free phytosterols is absorbed (Bosner *et al.*, 1999), and a large proportion ends up in the feces (Miettinen *et al.*, 2000; Weststrate *et al.*, 1999). Before they are excreted in the feces, it has been reported that unabsorbed free phytosterols might undergo microbial conversion in the colon. According to Weststrate *et al.* (1999), free phytosterols undergo oxidation at the C-3 position and saturation at the C₅-C₆ position in the colon. Song *et al.* (2000) also identified some metabolites, namely androstadienedione, androstedienedione and androstanedione, in rat colon.

Chapter 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials, reagents and enzymes

Wheat germs were obtained from Markal Company (St-Marcel-lès-Valence, France). Acetone (99.98%, analytical grade), methanol (99.9%, LC-grade), ethyl acetate (99.8%, LC-grade) and isopropanol (99.8%, LC-grade), sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃) (>95.5%), hexane (analytical grade), diethyl ether (99.5%, analytical grade), potassium hydroxide (KOH) and hydrochloric acid (HCl) were obtained from Chem-Lab (Zedelgem, Belgium). Pepsin from porcine stomach mucosa and pancreatin from porcine pancreas, stigmasterol (>95%), sitosterol from soybeans (~60%) and bile salts (~50% sodium cholate, ~50% sodium deoxycholate) were obtained from Sigma (St-Louis, MO, USA).

3.2 Extraction of phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates

3.2.1 Extraction of lipids

Phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides were extracted from wheat germs. Wheat germs were first milled in batches (20 g per batch) using a coffee bean miller for 3-5 min per batch. Two methods were tested to extract lipids. In the first method, 2 g of wheat germs were placed in kjeldahl tube and 80 ml acetone was added. The sample-solvent mixture was then heated for 15 min in the 2020 Digestor heating block at 150°C. Extra acetone was added to complete 15 min heating step. After 15 min heating, the kjeldhal tube was cooled down, and the mixture was then transferred to the extraction thimble and refluxed in the Soxhlet apparatus for 30 min. The lipid extracts were collected in round bottom bulb, and the solvent was evaporated using a rotary evaporator. After evaporation, the lipid extracts were redissolved in hexane-diethyl ether (9:1, v/v) and stored at -20°C. In the second method, the lipids were extracted from wheat germs with acetone using Soxhlet extraction apparatus. A 20 g sample of wheat germs was extracted by Soxhlet extraction for 2 hours. The lipids were collected in a round bottom bulb, evaporated and redissolved in hexane-diethyl ether (9:1, v/v). The lipid extracts were kept at -20°C until further analysis.

3.2.2 Fractionation of extracted lipids into phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates

The lipid extracts were fractionated by normal phase solid phase extraction (NP-SPE) under vacuum using SPE cartridges (Maxi-clean SPE 900mg silica) from Alltech (Lokeren, Belgium). The silica cartridge was conditioned with 3 column volumes hexane (i.e. 3 ml). For

each run, a 0.5 ml of lipid extracts was loaded and the fractions were allowed to elute in a drop wise flow. The first eluting fraction named as load fraction was collected. Then, two fractions of phytosteryl ferulates were eluted. The first fraction of phytosteryl ferulates was eluted with 2 column volumes hexane–diethyl ether (9:1, v/v), while the second fraction was eluted with 2 column volumes hexane–diethyl-ether (1:1, v/v). The fraction containing phytosteryl glycosides was eluted with 2 column volumes of acetone. The load fraction and the two fractions containing phytosteryl ferulates were combined, dried to dryness under a nitrogen flow and stored at -20° C.

3.2.3 Acid-base washing of phytosteryl ferulates

3.2.3.1 Removal of residual fatty acids and triglycerides

After fractionation by using NP-SPE, dried under a nitrogen flow and redissolved in methanol. The pH was increased to 10 by adding 0.6% KOH and then liquid-liquid extraction was performed twice. To 3 ml phytosteryl ferulates in methanol, 3 ml hexane was added. It was mixed by vortexing for 1 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 3000 g at room temperature. The hexane layer containing the fatty acids and triglycerides was removed.

3.2.3.2 Removal of salts

The pH of the remaining methanol layer was decreased to 1 using 6 M HCl followed by 3 times liquid-liquid extraction. To 3 ml of methanol layer, 2 ml hexane was added, mixed on a vortex mixer, centrifuged for 5 min and the hexane layer containing the phytosteryl ferulates was collected in a new tube. All the hexane layers from the first, second and the third step were combined, evaporated under nitrogen flow at room temperature and stored at -20°C until analyis.

3.2.4 Determination of the influence of the pH on the stability and extractability of phytosteryl ferulates

NP-SPE samples of 3 ml were taken and their pH were set at 8, 10, 12 and 14. For each pH, six samples were taken in test tubes and divided into two series. For the first series of three samples of phytosteryl ferulates suspended in methanol, liquid-liquid extraction with hexane was performed immediately. The second series of three samples was incubated for 24 hours at room temperature while shaking on an orbital shaker prior to liquid-liquid extraction. Liquid-liquid extraction was performed as described in 3.2.3.1 and 3.2.3.2. The sample: solvent ratio was 2:3.

3.3 Digestion of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions

For stomach digestion, stigmasterol (>95% purity) standard solution (2.5 mg/ml) was prepared by dissolving appropriate amount of stigmasterol in methanol: isopropanol (MeOH: IPA) mixture (1:1, v/v). For phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates digestion, extracts were used to prepare 5 mg/ml of their respective stock solutions. The resulting stigmasterol stock solution was sonicated for 5 min and then diluted 20 times with demineralized water to obtain 5% (v/v) organic solvent. Substrate blank was prepared by dissolving MeOH: IPA (1:1, v/v) in demineralized water. The concentration of solvent was 5% (v/v). The pH of both stigmasterol stock solution and substrate blank was set at 2 using 1 M HCl and 1 M NaHCO₃. Stigmasterol stock solution was distributed into four samples with 10ml each. Three samples served as replicates and one as enzyme blank. Pepsin (1 mg) was then added to stigmasterol samples and stigmasterol blank. All samples were incubated for two hours in a water bath of 37°C while mixing. Samples of 3 ml each were taken at the beginning (0 hour), 1 hour and 2 hours of incubation. After sampling, the enzyme activity was stopped by heating for 10 min at 95°C, and then increasing the pH to 8.5. Similar steps were used for the digestion of phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates.

3.4 Digestion of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under small intestinal conditions

Stigmasterol (>95% purity) standard solution (2.5 mg/ml) was prepared by dissolving stigmasterol in MeOH: IPA (1:1 v/v). The resulting stock solution was diluted 20 times with demineralized water to obtain a stigmasterol solution containing 5% organic solvent. The pH was then set at 7.5 by adding 1 M NaHCO₃. Pancreatic juice was prepared by dissolving 62.5 g/l NaHCO₃, 30 g/l bile salts and 4.5 g/l pancreatin in demineralized water. 1 ml of freshly prepared pancreatic juice was then added to 9 ml stigmasterol solution in triplicate. Substrate blank consisted of 9 ml 5% MeOH: IPA (1:1 v/v) to which 1 ml pancreatic juice was added. Enzyme blank consisted of diluted stigmasterol solution without pancreatic juice. After addition of pancreatic juice, the pH was re-adjusted to 7.5. The samples were incubated for 3 hours in a water bath at 37°C while mixing. Samples were taken at the beginning (0 hour), after 1.5 hour and after 3 hours of incubation. The enzyme activity was stopped by heating for 10 min at 95°C and then increasing the pH to 9.5. The described procedure for stigmasterol digestion under small intestinal conditions was the same for phytosteryl glycosides and

phytosteryl ferulates, with the exception that for the two latter substrates, a concentration of 5 mg/ml stock solution was used.

3.5 Extraction of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates from digested samples

After digestion under stomach and small intestine conditions, stigmasterol, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides were extracted from their respective digested samples in by 3 times liquid-liquid extraction using ethyl acetate (HPLC grade). Ethyl acetate was added in 2:3 (sample: solvent) ratio. The samples were mixed with a vortex mixer for 1 min and centrifuged at 3000 g for 5 min. The solvent layer was separated from aqueous phase. The solvent layers from the first, second and third liquid-liquid extraction steps were combined, evaporated to dryness under a flow of nitrogen and stored at -20° C until analysis.

3.6 Reversed Phase-High Performance Liquid Chromatography (RP-HPLC) analysis

After acid-base washing step described in 3.2.3, dried hexane and methanol fractions were redissolved in 1 ml methanol (HPLC grade) and phytosteryl ferulates were analysed by RP-HPLC. After digestion experiments, RP-HPLC was also used to analyse stigmasterol, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides samples. The dried samples digested under stomach and small intestinal conditions were reconstituted in 0.5 ml MeOH: IPA (1:1, v/v), filtered through 0.45 μ m filters, and subsequently analysed with RP-HPLC.

Table 3 RP-HPLC method gradients

| 0-5 min | Isocratic at 100% A |
|-----------|---------------------------------------|
| 5-15 min | Linear gradient from 100% A to 100% B |
| 15-20 min | Isocratic at 100% B |
| 20-40 min | Linear gradient from 100% C to 100% C |
| 40-50 min | Isocratic at 100% C |
| 50-60 min | Linear gradient from 100% D to 100% B |
| 60-70 min | Linear gradient from 100% C to 100% A |
| 70-80 min | Isocratic at 100% A |

The samples were analyzed on a Thermo HPLC consisting of an automatic sampler, high pressure pump, degasser, column compartment and a Thermo Surveyor PDA detector at 206, 234 and 280 nm. The HPLC was equipped with Supercosil LC-18 column (Supelcosil, 5μ m, 250 x 4.6 mm, Supelco, Bellafonte, PA, USA). A flow rate of 0.7 ml/min was used. A

gradient as described in table 3 was used, with solvent A=40% MeOH, B=100%MeOH and C= isopropanol.

3.7 Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography (UPLC) analysis

Phytosteryl ferulate and phytosteryl glycoside extracts were analysed using LC-MS. The analysis was done by an Acquity Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography (UPLC) (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) equipped with a BEH C18 column (1.7 μ m, 150 x 2.1 mm, Waters, Milford, MA, USA). The UPLC was coupled to a Synapt High Definition Mass Spectrometer (Waters). The mobile phase used was 50% MeOH (A) and 100% MeOH (B) (ULC-grade Biosolve, Valkenswaard, The Netherlands). The flow was set at 0.3 ml/min and the column temperature at 20°C. The gradient used was as follows: From 0 to 1 min, isocratic at 99% A; from 1 to 5 min, linear gradient from 99% to 1% A; from 5 to 22 min, isocratic at 1% A; from 22 to 25 min, linear gradient from 1% to 99% A; and from 25 to 30 min, isocratic at 99% A. The chromatographic peaks were detected by a PDA detector at the wavelength between 190 to 320 nm. After separation, the flow from the UPLC was introduced in the mass spectrometer. The compounds were ionized by atmospheric pressure photoionization (APPI) with toluene as dopant (0.03 ml/min) and in a positive mode. The results were processed using the MassLynx software. The chromatographic peaks were assigned by their mass/charge (*m*/*z*) ratio with *z* equals to 1.

3.8 Data analysis

To obtain standard curves, peak areas were plotted against their corresponding concentrations. Standard errors of the intercept and the slope of the standard curves were obtained using LINEST function of MS excel (2007). The limit of detection (LOD) was defined as three times standard errors of the intercept/the slope and the limit of quantitation (LOQ) was expressed as ten times the standard error of the intercept/the slope. The reproducibility was checked by percent relative standard deviation (%RSD) of stigmasterol peak area obtained at different days. Analysis of variance (one-way repeated measures ANOVA) was used to compare recoveries and peak areas at different time points of digestion. It was performed using GraphPad Prism version 5.04 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego Calfornia, USA). Turkey's test was used to determine differences among the data. The values of significant difference were taken at p< 0.05.

Chapter 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Choice of extraction method

Phytosterols constitute the largest proportion of unsaponifiable fraction of lipids (Careri *et al.*, 2001). They are, therefore, extracted along with lipids. The comparison of the two methods was made based the amounts of lipids extracted. The lipid levels were determined after rotary evaporation. Lipid yield was calculated by dividing the amount of lipid extract by the initial mass of wheat sample. Extraction was done on triplicate.

Lipid yield(%) =
$$\frac{\text{mass extract}(g)}{\text{mass sample}(g)} \times 100$$

The first method, with some modifications, was described by Nystrom *et al.* (2007b). It consisted of the second method with an extra 15 min heating step. The second method was the Soxhlet extraction method which is also known as the standard method of lipids extraction (de Castro & Garcia-Ayuso, 1998). It was expected that during the heating step, more phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides would be released. Surprisingly, the results did not meet our expectations. The results from the two extraction methods are presented in table 4. From these results, Soxhlet extraction method (method 2) gave lipid yield of about 16% (w/w) whereas the lipid yield of method 1 was 12% (w/w).

The results from RP-HPLC analysis of phytosteryl ferulates served as a second basis for comparison of the two methods. Figure 5 shows the chromatograms obtained from phytosteryl ferulates analysis. The chromatograms from the two methods show similar pattern between 20 and 26 min, but with more intense peaks in the chromatograms from the second method than the first method. Between 26 and 37 min, almost all the peaks detected in the chromatograms from the second method were not found in the chromatograms from the first method. This also gave an indication that the amount of phytosteryl ferulates extracted could be higher when the second extraction method was used than with the first method. However, it is important to note that the identity of the peaks detected by RP-HPLC analysis were not determined.

Furthermore, the choice was partly based on practical reasons. During the first step –heating at 150°C for 15 min– of the first method, almost all the solvent (acetone) evaporated before 15 min. Based on the lipid yield, the second method was found to give the highest yield. The first method was regarded as less suitable for phytosterol extraction and above all, it was found to be more laborious than the second method.



Figure 5 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl ferulates (fraction 2) obtained using different methods. 1 denotes method one, 2 denotes method two.

| | Method 1 | Method 2 |
|----------------------|----------------|-------------------|
| Sample weight (g) | 2.01 ± 0.002 | 20.01 ± 0.004 |
| Extracted lipids (g) | 0.25 ± 0.01 | 3.11 ± 0.1 |
| % (w/w) | 12.2 ± 0.01 | 15.5 ± 0.5 |

Table 4 Comparison of lipid yields obtained using different extraction methods

The values are means $(\pm SD)$ of three replications.

Previous studies have compared the lipid yield from wheat germs using Soxhlet extraction and other extraction methods. Dunford and Zhang (2003) extracted wheat germ oil using an accelerated solvent extraction as a means of reducing the time used in Soxhlet extraction method. The authors reported that accelerated solvent extraction and Soxhlet extraction methods yielded 11.0% (w/w) and 10.8% (w/w), respectively. Ostlund *et al.* (2003) reported 10.3% (w/w) lipids content in wheat germ. The data presented by Barnes (1982) indicate that a lipid content of 13.4-14.8% (w/w) is obtained from wheat germs by using acetone as extraction solvent. These results are comparable or even lower than those obtained in this thesis.

4.2 Effect of pH on the extractability of phytosteryl ferulates

The effect of pH on the extractability of phytosteryl ferulates was examined after extraction, acid-base wash and RP-HPLC analysis of phytosteryl ferulates. The chromatograms of
samples that were immediately washed and those washed after 24 hours incubation were compared. The percent mean differences between peak areas before and after 24 hours incubation are presented in table 5. The tables do not show results from samples treated at pH 14 because when the alkaline solution was added to set the pH to 14, the samples turned into a thickened state, and could therefore not be analysed.

The peaks detected in the chromatograms of non-incubated samples were also detected the in the incubated samples. However, the peaks had different intensities. Some peaks increased and some decreased after incubation at different pH values (8, 10 and 12). At pH 8, the peak areas of 6 peaks increased after incubation and 9 decreased. Of the 9 peaks which decreased, 2 peaks could not be detected any more. Similarly, but not for the same peaks, 6 peaks increased after incubation at pH 10. Again, 2 peaks could not be detected after incubation at pH 10. Again, 2 peaks could not be detected after incubation at pH 10, the peak area of three peaks with retention times 19.3 ± 0.1 min, 20.4 ± 0.2 min, and 24.5 ± 0.4 min increased in the incubated samples. Also, at the same pH values, three peaks with retention times 22.1 ± 0.1 min, 31.8 ± 0.1 min, and 42.7 ± 0.2 min decreased after incubation. When samples were incubated at pH 12, the peak areas of 6 peaks increased and 3 decreased, of which 2 could not be detected after incubation. At the same pH value, 2 peaks were only detected in after incubation while 4 peaks were detected neither before nor after incubation. The peak with retention time 39.6 ± 0.1 min increased at both pH 12.

Based on the increases/decreases in peak areas observed at pH 8, pH 10 and pH 12, the extractability of phytosteryl ferulates was influenced by the pH. However, there was no particular trend in the changes observed in samples with or without incubation. In the literature, it was reported that ester linkages of phytosteryl ferulates are cleaved during acid-base wash step of phytosterol analysis (Moreau *et al.*, 2002) to liberate free phytosterols. It was expected that, if phytosteryl ferulates are hydrolysed at pH 8, more hydrolysis would take place at higher pH, which was apparently not the case. In addition, no peak was detected at the retention time of stigmasterol (29.9 min). At the retention time of sitosterol (30.1 min), a peak was detected in non-incubated samples at pH 8, but could not be detected after incubation at the same pH. At pH 10, a peak was detected at 30.1 min in non-incubated samples but it decreased when samples were incubated. Also, at the retention time of sitosterol, a peak was detected in the incubated samples but not in non-incubated samples at pH 12. Based on these changes, there was no indication that stigmasterol and sitosterol have been liberated as a result of pH effect.

| | | Peak area before | Peak area after | |
|----------------|----|---------------------|---------------------|--------------|
| Rt | pН | incubation | incubation | % difference |
| | 8 | 211.5±110.4 | 2927.8±1292.0 | 1284.5 |
| 19.3 ± 0.1 | 10 | 2885.3±3327.5 | 3395.1±1095.8 | 17.7 |
| | 12 | 4928.5±4097.1 | 32648.9±24760.4 | 562.4 |
| | 8 | 1037.0±714.1 | 17435.7±7890.9 | 1581.4 |
| 20.4 ± 0.2 | 10 | 5630.1±1168.5 | 26788.2±6283.3 | 375.8 |
| | 12 | 9043.8±16072.8 | n.d | -100 |
| | 8 | 813.8±23.1 | 830.7±80.6 | 2.1 |
| 21.3±0.1 | 10 | 848.1 ± 184.1 | 695.6±45.5 | -18.0 |
| | 12 | 759.4±136.2 | 55741.9±47891.3 | 7240.7 |
| | 8 | 242.3±234.2 | 137.4±12.6 | -43.3 |
| 22.1±0.1 | 10 | 2315.4±3091.6 | 547.8±453.7 | -76.3 |
| | 12 | 990.1±1146.7 | 2443.4 ± 1984.3 | 146.8 |
| | 8 | 189.0 ± 82.4 | 468.4 ± 460.5 | 147.8 |
| 24.5 ± 0.4 | 10 | 1221.7 ± 483.7 | 1372.6±379.5 | 12.3 |
| | 12 | 3431.6±2863.4 | 2834.7±1550.3 | -17.4 |
| | 8 | 412.1±168.2 | 280387±231.0 | -32.0 |
| 25.5 ± 0.4 | 10 | 89.5±47.3 | n.d | -100 |
| | 12 | 200.5±179.4 | 4103.1±3062.4 | 1946.3 |
| | 8 | 294.1±222.1 | $122.4{\pm}14.5$ | -58.3 |
| 26.4 ± 0.4 | 10 | 3067.9±2359.3 | 2473.8 ± 1424.2 | 19.3 |
| | 12 | 152.7±57.7 | n.d | -100 |
| | 8 | 40.3±31.7 | n.d | -100 |
| 30.1 ± 0.1 | 10 | 304.4±213.6 | 262.9±198.4 | -13.6 |
| | 12 | n.d | 523.1±381.0 | -100 |
| | 8 | 112.5 ± 63.6 | 100.7 ± 7.3 | -10.5 |
| 31.8 ± 0.1 | 10 | 1358.9 ± 530.0 | 960.1±462.1 | -29.3 |
| | 12 | 88.4±34.8 | 185.9 ± 244.5 | 110.1 |
| | 8 | 80.9 ± 71.5 | n.d | -100 |
| 32.6 ± 0.1 | 10 | 759.9±191.1 | 445.4 ± 149.0 | -41.3 |
| | 12 | n.d | n.d | _ |
| | 8 | 125.5 ± 2.5 | 693.3±920.9 | 452.4 |
| 35.6 ± 0.1 | 10 | 172.1 ± 73.4 | n.d | -100 |
| | 12 | 145.5 ± 10.5 | 165.2 ± 23.0 | 13.5 |
| | 8 | 993.9±713.8 | 308.6 ± 87.4 | -68.9 |
| 37.7 ± 0.1 | 10 | 1997.4±1867.3 | 4776.9±1370.6 | 139.1 |
| | 12 | n.d | n.d | - |
| | 8 | 1206.6 ± 746.0 | 367.8±113.1 | -69.4 |
| 38.6±0.1 | 10 | 2268.7 ± 2155.8 | 5498.4 ± 2145.7 | 142.3 |
| | 12 | n.d | n.d | n.d |
| | 8 | 402 1+294 7 | 122 0+37 2 | -69.6 |
| 30 6±0 1 | 10 | 1045 5+751 8 | 1720 3+625 2 | 64 5 |
| 37.0±0.1 | 10 | $10+3.5\pm751.0$ | 1250 9 524 9 | 100 |
| | 12 | <u> </u> | 155U.8±554.8 | 100 |
| 10 7 0 0 | 8 | 188.0±82.1 | 52.5±18.6 | -12.2 |
| 42.7±0.2 | 10 | 847.3±420.2 | 3/3./±383.4 | -55.8 |
| | 12 | n.d | n.d | _ |

Table 5 Change in peak areas after incubation of phytosteryl ferulates at different pHs

The values are means \pm SD (n=3); Rt= average retention time in minutes; n.d= not detected.

4.3 Identification of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides

UPLC coupled with MS was used to ensure the presence of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides in their respective extracts. Stigmasteryl, sitosteryl and campesteryl ferulates/glycosides were selected because they are the most abundant forms of phytosterol conjugates. Tables 6 and 7 present the mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) and the retention times of the compounds that are likely to be formed when phytosteryl ferulates/glycosides are ionized. MS chromatograms of those compounds are presented in appendices A and B.

The retention times of the ionized forms of stigmasteryl and sitosteryl ferulates showed that these compounds eluted before stigmasterol. However, the retention times of the ionized compounds from campesteryl ferulate were different. But it is not possible for one compound to have two different retention times. The compound with retention time of 6.92 min is most likely to be campestryl ferulate because its retention time was shorter than that of stigmasterol. The results also showed that the m/z ratios of the compounds from campesteryl ferulates were identical to those from sitosteryl glycosides. Therefore, no clear conclusion could be made with regard to the presence of campesteryl ferulate or/and with regard to the presence of sitosteryl glucoside in the extract.

The results from table 7 indicate that the retention times of phytosteryl glucosides in the form of $[M-H_20+H]^+$ were different from the retention times phytosteryl glucosides in their $[M+H]^+$ forms. As mentioned earlier, this is not possible because one compound cannot elute at two different retention times. Based on the intensities of the $[M+H]^+$ forms, which were much higher than that of $[M-H_20+H]^+$ forms, it was suggested that phytosteryl glucosides were most likely to appear in the form of $[M+H]^+$, with the assumption that the ion with the highest intensity is the "real" ion.

Table 6 The m/z ratios and retention times of the selected ions present in the phytosteryl ferulates extract

| | | | Phytosterol | | |
|----------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|--|
| | | Stigmasteryl | Sitosteryl | Campesteryl | |
| | Stigmasterol | ferulate | ferulate | ferulate | |
| $[M+H]^+$ | n.d | 589.42 | 591.44 | 577.41 | |
| RT | - | 7.95 | 8.21 | 13.36 | |
| $\left[M\text{-}H_20\text{+}H ight]^+$ | 396.37 | 571.41 | 573.43 | 559.41 | |
| RT | 11.2 | 7.99 | 8.21 | 6.92 | |

RT= retention time; $[M+H]^+$ and $[M-H_20+H]^+$ are m/z ratios

| | | Phytosterol | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|------------|-------------|--|--|
| | | Stigmasteryl | Sitosteryl | Campesteryl | | |
| | Stigmasterol | glycoside | glcoside | glycoside | | |
| $[M+H]^+$ | n.d | 575.4 | 577.4 | 563.4 | | |
| RT | - | 11.67 | 13.4 | 10.95 | | |
| $\left[\text{M-H}_2\text{O}+\text{H}\right]^+$ | 396.37 | 557.4 | 559.4 | 545.4 | | |
| RT | 11.2 | 7.58 | 7.73 | 9.68 | | |

Table 7 The m/z ratios and retention times of the selected ions present in the phytosteryl glycosides extract

RT= retention time; $[M+H]^+$ and $[M-H_20+H]^+$ are *m/z* ratios

4.4 Limit of detection, limit of quantitation and reproducibility of the RP-HPLC method used to determine stigmasterol

In order to ensure the suitability of the RP-HPLC method to consistently quantify stigmasterol, three parameters, i.e. the limit of detection, limit of quantitation and reproducibility, were determined on five different days. The average limit of detection, limit of quantitation and reproducibility (expressed by the percent relative standard deviation) are presented in tables 8 and 9.

4.4.1 Limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ)

The average LOD and LOQ were 0.10 mg/ml and 0.35 mg/ml, respectively. The LOD obtained was below the lowest concentration, suggesting that the RP-HPLC method used to determine stigmasterol could reliably quantify stigmasterol at the concentration of 0.16 mg/ml. The regression coefficients obtained on five different days were above 98%.

Table 8 The limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) obtained on different days

| | Mean $(n=5)$ | SD |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------|------|
| Limit of detection (mg/ml) | 0.10 | 0.09 |
| Limit of quantitation (mg/ml) | 0.35 | 0.31 |
| r ² | 0.995 | 0.00 |
| $\mathbf{C}\mathbf{D}$ \mathbf{i} 1 1 1 \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} 2 \mathbf{i} | CC' ' | |

SD= standard deviation; r^2 = regression coefficient.

However, the LOD and LOQ obtained in this thesis are lower than those reported in the literature. The LOD and LOQ obtained by Careri *et al.*, (2001) were 0.42 μ g/ml and 0.54 μ g/ml, respectively. Rodriguez-Parmelo *et al.*, (1994) obtained 1.12 ng/g and 3.18 ng/g for

LOD and LOQ, respectively. In comparing these findings, it is important to note that the methods used by those authors were different from our method. Rodriguez-Parmelo *et al.*, (1994) used gas chromatography (GC) whereas Careri *et al.*, (2001) used a narrow bore RP-HPLC. However, their results show that our method is not as sensitive as their methods.

4.4.2 Reproducibility

The reproducibility of the RP-HPLC method used was evaluated by calculating the percent relative standard deviation (RSD%) of stigmasterol peak area obtained on five different days (table 9). The RSD increased with the dilution of the stigmasterol standard solution. Low RSD (6.5%) was obtained at the stigmasterol concentration of 2.5 mg/ml. At the intermediate concentrations, the RSD ranged between 11-14%, whereas a RSD of about 33% was obtained at the smallest concentration. The results from table 19 indicate that the method was better repeatable for higher than for lower stigmasterol concentrations.

| Concentration (mg/ml) | Peak area (mA | _ | |
|-----------------------------|---------------|------|---------|
| Concentration (ing/ini) | Mean $(n=5)$ | SD | RSD (%) |
| 2.5 | 405.8 | 26.5 | 6.5 |
| 1.25 | 184.6 | 20.2 | 10.9 |
| 0.625 | 96.0 | 10.3 | 10.7 |
| 0.31 | 45.4 | 6.2 | 13.7 |
| 0.16 | 23.7 | 7.7 | 32.8 |

Table 9 The RP-HPLC inter-day reproducibility

SD= standard deviation; RSD= relative standard deviation

4.5 Stability of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under the stomach conditions

4.5.1 Stability of stigmasterol under the stomach conditions

To evaluate the possible degradation of stigmasterol under stomach conditions, samples were taken at different time points during digestion, analysed with RP-HPLC. The chromatograms of stigmasterol samples incubated with pepsin and those of enzyme blank are presented in figure 6.

The chromatographic profiles of stigmasterol samples incubated with pepsin did not differ from those obtained from the enzyme blank. In both samples with and without added pepsin, stigmasterol eluted at 29.9 min. The peak of stigmasterol was not detected in the substrate blank. To further assess the stability of stigmasterol under stomach conditions, the recoveries at different time points during digestion were compared. The recoveries were calculated using a standard curve generated by analyzing different concentrations of stigmasterol standards. Table 10 shows the amount and percent recoveries of stigmasterol obtained at different time points of digestion. By comparing the recoveries of stigmasterol from digested samples and the blank, a similar trend was observed. In pepsin treated stigmasterol samples, the amount of stigmasterol recovered at different time points were almost the same. However, there was no significant difference between the amount obtained at different time points (p= 0.45). No statistical test was performed to compare the recoveries obtained from pepsin treated stigmasterol samples and enzyme blank at different time points because only one repetition was used for enzyme blank. However, the ranges of stigmasterol recoveries were closely comparable, being 59.5-71.3% and 63.1-71.9% in enzyme blank at the beginning shows a slight deviation but this was considered as a random variation.



Figure 6 RP-HPLC chromatograms of stigmasterol and blanks at different time points during digestion under the stomach conditions. 0h, 1h, 2h= chromatograms obtained from samples incubated with pepsin at the beginning, after 1 hour and 2 hours; EB= enzyme blank; SB= substrate blank; ST= stigmasterol peak.

No new peaks were detected in all samples after 1 hour and 2 hours of digestion. However, a number of unknown peaks with retention times of 20.9 min (A), 21.1 min (B) and 25.2 min

(C) have been detected in samples with and without pepsin, as well as in the substrate blank. Table 11 shows the mean peak areas of unknown peaks detected in stigmasterol samples and enzyme blank. By comparing the mean peak areas of individual peak (i.e. A, B and C), the peak areas were found to remain almost constant over time except peak C (in enzyme blank) whose peak area seemed to have reduced after 2 hours compared to 0 hour and 1 hour. This is also supported by their presence in substrate blank. The origin of those peaks is not known but it is suggested that they originated from impurities present in the solutions used to adjust the pH. Those solutions were not freshly prepared. The peaks between 15-20 min were not considered as important peaks because they were also identified in methanol blanks.

Table 10 Stigmasterol recovery during digestion under the stomach conditions

| D : | Pepsin treated stigmaste | erol samples | Stigmasterol enzyme blank | | |
|----------------|--------------------------|----------------|---------------------------|----------|--|
| Digestion time | Amount of | | Amount of | | |
| (11) | stigmasterol | | stigmasterol | % | |
| | (mg/ml) | % recovery | (mg/ml) | recovery | |
| 0 | $0.333 {\pm} 0.05^{a}$ | 68.1±12.1 | 0.291 | 59.5 | |
| 1 | $0.351{\pm}0.01^{a}$ | 71.9 ± 3.5 | 0.349 | 71.3 | |
| 2 | 0.309 ± 0.03^{a} | 63.1±7.7 | 0.320 | 65.5 | |

The values are means (\pm SD) (n=3) for samples incubated with pepsin. The values followed by different letters are significantly different (p \leq 0.05). For the enzyme blank, (n= 1)

| | Digestion time | | Retention time (minutes) | |
|--------------|----------------|----------------|--------------------------|----------------|
| | (h) | 20.9 | 21.1 | 25.2 |
| | 0 | 56.4±6.4 | 42.3±0.8 | 16.4±0.6 |
| Samples | 1 | 54.8 ± 2.4 | 42.2 ± 0.8 | 14.4 ± 0.6 |
| | 2 | 61.2±3.4 | 43.1±0.2* | 15.6±0.3 |
| | 0 | 52.2 | 42.3 | 16.2 |
| Enzyme blank | 1 | 49.1 | 40.7 | 13.4 |
| | 2 | 47.3 | 22.7 | 14.6 |

Table 11 Peak areas $(mAU/10^5)$ of peaks other than stigmasterol peak detected at different time points during stigmasterol digestion under stomach conditions

For samples, the values presented as means (\pm SD) (n= 3); for enzyme blank, n= 1; *= mean (\pm SD) calculated from two repetitions.

The degradation of free phytosterols in the stomach has not been reported in the literature. Moreover, stigmasterol was not expected to undergo enzymatic degradation as it is not a substrate of pepsin, which catalyzes the hydrolysis of proteins. But the pH effect was hypothesized based on the previous literature. Kamal-Eldin *et al.* (1998) studied the stability of free phytosterols under acid conditions and reported that, among the free phytosterols studied, fucosterol and avenasterol underwent isomerization in their side chain, but stigmasterol was found to be stable (Kamal-Eldin *et al.*, 1998). The peaks A, B, and C have also been detected in the chromatograms of other substrates, i.e. phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides, used during digestion under stomach conditions, suggesting that those peaks did not result from stigmasterol breakdown. Thus, based on the recoveries and on the fact that no new peaks were formed, it was concluded that stigmasterol was stable under stomach conditions.

4.5.2 Stability of phytosteryl glycosides under stomach conditions

The chromatograms of samples incubated with pepsin are shown in figure 7. They gave similar profiles. The peaks A, F and G were detected in all samples of phytosteryl glycosides incubated with pepsin as well as in the enzyme blank. Their retention times were 18.6, 28.1, 29.2, 31.3, 37.6 and 38.6 min. None of those peaks was detected in substrate blank, implying that they represent compounds present in phytosteryl glycosides extract. Table 12 presents their mean peak areas at different time points during digestion.

The results presented in table 12 indicate that the means peak area in the samples incubated with pepsin significantly reduced between 0 hour and 1 hour of digestion. The peak areas did not significantly decrease between 1 and 2 hours of digestion. One could presume that the observed reduction in peak areas between 0 hour and 1 hour of digestion was due to the enzymatic degradation of phytosteryl glycosides. However, the data also showed a reduction in the peak areas over time in the enzyme blank. Therefore, the reduction in peak areas observed in samples to which pepsin was added could not be attributed to the effect of enzyme activity. In addition, there was no formation of new peaks. The reduction in peak area could be explained by the adhesion of phytosteryl glycosides extract on the wall of the conical flasks used to perform the experiment.

Other peaks have also been detected in phytosteryl glycoside samples incubated with and without pepsin as well as in the substrate blank. Those peaks are indicated as B, C, D and E. Their respective retention times were 20.8, 21.1, 22.3, and 25.2 min. Their mean peak areas are shown in table 13. Based on data from this table, it can be seen that the mean peak areas changed over time but the variation did not show any specific trend either in the samples incubated with or without pepsin. The exact origin of peaks B, C, D and E is not known, but the same peaks were detected in other substrates digested under stomach conditions (except

some small differences in retention times). Their presence in substrate blank is an indication that they did not originate from the breakdown products of phytosteryl glycosides.

Notwithstanding all the changes that occurred in samples incubated with pepsin, all the peaks detected at the beginning could be detected after 2 hours of digestion. There was no formation of new peaks. If phytosteryl glycosides were hydrolysed, one could hypothesize that the point of hydrolysis would be at the glycosidic bond between free phytosterol and the sugar (see figure 4), and the latter two components would be the end products of hydrolysis (Kovganko & Kashkan, 1999; Moreau *et al.*, 2002). In this experiment, stigmasterol and sitosterol standards were also injected and their retention times were found to be 29.9 and 30.1 min, respectively. No peak was detected at those retention times, suggesting that no stigmasterol/ sitosterol was released as a result of phytosteryl glycosides breakdown by pepsin.

No effect of pepsin on phytosteryl glycosides was expected, but the acidic conditions might influence the stability. Glycosidic bonds have been reported to be acid-labile (Panzeter *et al.*, 1992). Acid hydrolysis has been previously suggested to be included in the sample preparation for phytosterol content analysis (Jonker *et al.*, 1985). Toivo *et al.* (2000) analysed phytosterol content in whole wheat flour, and reported that the content increased by 20% when acid hydrolysis was included in the sample preparation.



Figure 7 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl glycosides and blanks at different time points during digestion under the stomach conditions. 0h, 1h, 2h= chromatograms obtained from samples incubated with pepsin at the beginning, after 1 hour and 2 hours; EB= enzyme blank; SB= substrate blank.

| | Digestion | Retention time (minutes) | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|--------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| | time (h) | 18.6 | 28.1 | 29.2 | 31.3 | 37.6 | 38.6 |
| | 0 | 108.8 ± 2.6^{a} | 2.7±0.3 ^a | 1.7±0.1 ^a | 2.4 ± 0.4^{a} | 3.3±0.2 ^a | 2.9±0.2 ^a |
| Samples | 1 | $43.8 {\pm} 12.7^{b}$ | $1.6{\pm}0.4^{b}$ | $0.8 {\pm} 0.3^{b}$ | $0.9{\pm}0.5^{b}$ | $1.2{\pm}1.0^{b}$ | 1.1 ± 0.8^{b} |
| | 2 | 46.9 ± 8.6^{b} | $1.8{\pm}0.5^{b}$ | $1.0{\pm}0.0^{b}$ | 1.1 ± 0.2^{b} | $1.9{\pm}0.4^{b}$ | 1.5 ± 0.3^{b} |
| Enzyme | 0 | 103.2 | 3.0 | 17.7 | 2.2 | 3.5 | 3.2 |
| blank | 1 | 67.6 | 2.2 | 12.8 | 1.3 | 2.4 | 2.4 |
| blank | 2 | 17.4 | 0.8 | 3.8 | 0.5 | 0.7 | 1.0 |

Table 12 Peak areas (mAU/10⁴) of peaks detected at different time points during digestion of phytosteryl glycosides under stomach conditions

For samples incubated with pepsin, the values are means (\pm SD) (n=3); for each retention time, values followed by different letters are significantly different (p \leq 0.05); for enzyme blank, n= 1.

Table 13 Peak areas (mAU/10⁴) of peaks indicated as B, C, D and E detected at different time points during digestion of phytosteryl glycosides under stomach conditions

| | Digestion | Retention time (minutes) | | | | |
|-----------------|-----------|--------------------------|----------|-----------|-----------|--|
| | time (h) | 20.8 | 21.1 | 22.3 | 25.2 | |
| Samples | 0 | 46.4±2.9 | 54.1±1.3 | 12.9±1.7 | 39.1±28.6 | |
| | 1 | 31.8±13.7 | 41.8±3.3 | 13.2±11.3 | 25.7±13.0 | |
| | 2 | 43.3±9.4 | 45.0±1.8 | 12.2±2.4 | 25.4±4.7 | |
| Enzyme blank | 0 | 43.1 | 55.8 | 13.0 | 24.6 | |
| | 1 | 43.6 | 42.1 | 10.7 | 21.4 | |
| | 2 | 41.5 | 46.1 | 9.8 | 22.9 | |

For samples, the values are presented as means $(\pm SD)$ (n= 3); for enzyme blank, n= 1

In these studies, it was suggested that the increase in phytosterol content resulted from the acid hydrolysis of phytosteryl glycosides (Jonker *et al.*, 1985; Lin *et al.*, 2009; Toivo *et al.*, 2000). However, the hydrolysis of phytosteryl glycosides during the analysis of phytosterols in foods takes place under the pH and temperature conditions that do not represent those *in vivo*. In a study of the metabolism of $[4-{}^{14}C]$ sitosteryl- β -D-glucoside in rats, it was reported that this compound was not hydrolyzed in the stomach (Weber, 1988). Recently, Lin *et al.* (2009) tested the effect of phytosteryl glycosides on cholesterol absorption. In their study, the cholesterol absorption was reduced by 37.6%, suggesting that phytosteryl glycosides have been hydrolysed in order to exhibt their hypocholesterolemic effect in a free form.

4.5.3 Stability of phytosteryl ferulates under the stomach conditions

To assess the stability of phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions, the chromatograms (figure 8) obtained from RP-HPLC analysis of samples to which pepsin was added and those of enzyme and substrate blanks were compared. The peaks indicated as E, with retention times of 36.5, 36.9, 37.4, 38.4, 39.2 and 42.2 min were detected in all phytosteryl ferulates samples incubated with and without pepsin. Among those peaks, none was detected in substrate blank, suggesting that they represent the compounds present in phytosteryl ferulates extract. Table 14 shows the means of the peak areas of the mentioned peaks. Based on the data from this table, the peak areas decreased over time during digestion. For all the peaks with retention time between 36 and 42.2 min, a significant decrease was observed between 0 hour and 1 hour of digestion. Although the statistical test did not reveal any significant reduction, a reduction of 38%-60% was observed between 1 hour and 2 hours of digestion. Just as with phytosteryl glycosides digestion under stomach conditions, the adhesion of materials on the wall of the conical flasks was also observed during digestion of phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions. This could explain the observed reduction in peak areas over time.

The chromatograms in figure 8 also show other peaks detected in the samples incubated with and without pepsin and in substrate blank. Those peaks are labeled as A, B, C and D and their retention times were 20.7, 21.0, 22.7 and 25.1 min, respectively. Their mean peak areas at different time points are presented in table 15. These peaks were also identified in the samples of stigmasterol and phytosteryl glycosides during digestion under stomach conditions. Therefore, they are not considered as the degradation products of phytosteryl ferulates

In regard to the effect of enzyme, the hydrolysis of phytosteryl ferulates by pepsin was not expected. Also, the sensitivity of ester bonds toward pepsin has not been reported in the literature. One *in vitro* digestibility study of γ -oryzanol, which is a mixture of phytosteryl ferulates isolated from rice (Xu & Godber, 1999), reported a decrease in concentration of γ -oryzanol when the latter was incubated with pepsin, which is a digestive enzyme in the stomach, and then pancreatin, which is a mixture of digestive enzymes in the small intesine (Huang, 2003).



Figure 8 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl ferulates and blanks at different time points during digestion under stomach conditions. 0h, 2h indicate the samples incubated with pepsin at the beginning and after 2 hours of digestion; EB_0 and EB_2 denote enzyme blanks at the beginning and after 2 hours; SB= substrate blank.

Table 14 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks E detected at different time points during digestion of phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions

| | Digestion | Digestion Retention time (minutes) | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|------------------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|----------------------|
| | time (h) | 36.5 | 36.9 | 37.4 | 38.4 | 39.2 | 42.2 |
| | 0 | 33.1±4.1 ^a | 18.9 ± 2.2^{a} | 224.9±11.7 ^a | 282.7 ± 33.0^{a} | 98.8±16.0 ^a | 35.8 ± 4.3^{a} |
| Samples | 1 | 15.2 ± 5.9^{b} | $8.3{\pm}3.2^{b}$ | $98.7{\pm}41.4^{b}$ | $111.0{\pm}48.8^{b}$ | $37.5{\pm}14.0^{b}$ | 13.4 ± 5.6^{b} |
| | 2 | $6.0{\pm}1.4^{b}$ | $3.5{\pm}1.0^{b}$ | 41.7±13.6 ^b | $49.3{\pm}16.6^{b}$ | 17.6 ± 5.3^{b} | 8.2±4.9 ^b |
| Engumo | 0 | 35.3 | 19.5 | 234.8 | 253.4 | 84.1 | 22.3 |
| blank | 1 | 6.1 | 3.2 | 39.5 | 46.9 | 11.1 | 4.9 |
| | 2 | 1.2 | 0.7 | 8.0 | 9.9 | 3.6 | 1.3 |

For samples incubated with pepsin, the values are means (\pm SD) (n= 3); for each retention time, values followed by different letters are significantly different (p≤ 0.05); for enzyme blank, n= 1).

| | Digestion time | Retention time (minutes) | | | |
|-----------------|----------------|--------------------------|------------|----------|----------|
| | (h) | 20.7 | 21.0 | 22.7 | 25.1 |
| Samples | 0 | 47.4±9.5 | 49.8±12.6a | 14.2±5.1 | 24.9±8.8 |
| | 1 | 50.1±7.2 | 54.7±3.2a | 10.8±1.1 | 22.7±0.7 |
| | 2 | 42.4±5.1 | 55.4±3.7a | 11.4±0.8 | 23.1±4.9 |
| Enzyme blank | 0 | 43.9 | 53.0 | 5.1 | 19.0 |
| | 1 | 32.7 | 47.1 | 13.2 | 18.2 |
| | 2 | 39.4 | 49.5 | 10.8 | 19.0 |

Table 15 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks indicated as A, B, C, and D detected at different time points during digestion of phytosteryl ferulates under stomach conditions

For samples, the values are presented as means $(\pm SD)$ (n= 3); for enzyme blank (n= 1)

Therefore, it was not clear whether the decrease was due to pepsin or pancreatin. Moreover, the author said that neither free phytosterols nor ferulic acid, which are the hydrolysis products of phytosteryl ferulates products of hydrolysis, was detected in the peptic digest. In our findings, there was no formation of new peaks, after 1 hour and 2 hours of digestion. Thus, there was no indication of degradation of compounds present in phytosteryl ferulates extract.

4.6 Stability of stigmasterol, phytosteryl glycosides and phytosteryl ferulates under small intestinal conditions

4.6.1 Stability of stigmasterol under small intestinal conditions

The stability of stigmasterol under small intestinal conditions was evaluated by comparing the chromatograms of samples with and without pancreatin, and those of substrate blanks at different time points of digestion. Figure 9 shows the chromatograms of stigmasterol samples with and without pancreatin and of the substrate blanks at the beginning (0 hour), after 1.5 hour and 3 hours of digestion. The stability of stigmasterol under small intestinal conditions was also assessed by comparing the stigmasterol recoveries at different times of digestion. Table 16 presents the amounts of stigmasterol recovered at the beginning (0 hour), after 1.5 hour and 3 hours of stigmasterol digestion under small intestinal conditions.

In all stigmasterol digested samples and in enzyme blanks, the peak of stigmasterol was detected, and its retention time varied between 29.7-29.9 min. The variation in retention time was probably due to the fluctuations in HPLC conditions (e.g. temperature, pressure). Stigmasterol was not detected in any of the substrate blanks. The peak of stigmasterol

obtained after small intestinal digestion coeluted with compound whose peak is labeled as C (figure 9). Its retention time was 30.1 min and its peak was detected in samples incubated with and without pancreatin and in substrate blanks. During the RP-HPLC analysis of substrates digested under small intestinal conditions, sitosterol standard solutions were also injected, and sitosterol eluted at 30.1 min. Thus, it is suggested that peak C did not result from stigmasterol breakdown. Rather, it could be sitosterol which originated from sitosterol standards. This is also supported by the fact that, in a RP-HPLC method, stigmasterol which is more polar compared to sitosterol, is expected to elute earlier.

The stability of stigmasterol was also evaluated by determining the recoveries (table 16). In stigmasterol digested samples, the amount of stigmasterol recovered at the beginning (0 hour), after 1.5 hour and 3 hours of digestion did not differ significantly (p=0.901). In enzyme blanks, a statistical test did not reveal any significant difference in stigmasterol recovery (p=0.544) between 0 hour and 3 hours of digestion.

Besides the peak of stigmasterol and the adjacent peak to it, three other important peaks indicated as A, B, and D were also detected in stigmasterol digested samples, in enzyme and substrate blanks. Their retention times were found to be 21.4 min (peak A), 25.8 min (peak B) and 39.3 min (peak D). The mean peak areas of peak A, B and D determined at different time points during digestion are presented in table 17. The peak areas of individual peak A, B and D at different time points showed variations but were almost the same in stigmasterol samples incubated with and without pancreatin. Three peaks eluted before peak A (between 17-21 min) and were found to be stable over time. These peaks were not considered as important because one of them (between 17-18 min) was also identified in stigmasterol samples digested under stomach conditions, and the other two were present in substrate blank. Peak D and the peaks eluting shortly before and after, are thought to come from the compounds that were present in phytosteryl glycosides samples which were run in the same sequence. The retention times of those peaks are the same in stigmasterol and phytosteryl glycosides samples digested under small intestinal conditions.

Pancreatin is a mixture of enzymes, principally amylase, lipase and trypsin (Mossner & Keim, 2011). Based on substrate specificity of these enzymes, stigmasterol breakdown by pancreatic enzymes was unexpected. The enzymatic degradation of free phytosterols under the small intestine has not been reported in the literature. Instead, free phytosterols, including stigmasterol, are found in the small intestine which implies that they are stable under stomach and small intestinal conditions.



Figure 9 RP-HPLC chromatograms of stigmasterol and blanks at different time points during digestion under small intestinal conditions. 0h, 1.5h, 2h indicate the chromatograms obtained from samples incubated with pancreatin at the beginning, after 1h and 2 hours of digestion A, B, C and D are the peaks detected in the samples and in the blanks; ST= sigmasterol peak; EB= enzyme blank; SB= substrate blank.

Table 16 Stigmasterol recovered during digestion under small intestinal conditions

| | Pancreatin tre | ated stigmasterol | Stigmasterol enzyme blanks | | |
|------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|------------|--|
| Digastion time - | samp | samples (n=3) | | (n=2) | |
| (h) | Amount of stigmasterol (mg/ml) | % recovery | Amount of stigmasterol (mg/ml) | % recovery | |
| 0 | $0.520{\pm}0.06^{a}$ | 69.2±7.3 | $0.550{\pm}0.04^{a}$ | 72.7±5.4 | |
| 1.5 | 0.543 ± 0.04^{a} | 71.9±6.4 | 0.576* | 72.4* | |
| 3 | 0.531 ± 0.02^{a} | 70.3±3.5 | 0.557 ± 0.01^{a} | 73.7±1.8 | |

The values are means (±SD). In each column, the values followed by different letters are significantly different ($p \le 0.05$); * recovery obtained from one repetition.

| | Direction time (h) | Retention time (minutes) | | | |
|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|-----------|------------|--|
| | Digestion time (II) | 21.4 | 25.8 | 39.3 | |
| Samples (n=3) | 0 | 752.3±70.1 | 24.7±8.5 | 227.6±35.6 | |
| | 1.5 | 843.0±168.3 | 21.0±6.0 | 205.1±2.4 | |
| | 3 | 756.0±125.3 | 21.2±11.7 | 205.4±4.3 | |
| Enzyme blanks (n=2) | 0 | 677.5±41.8 | 27.0±14.5 | 212.6±0.6 | |
| | 1.5 | 735.9 ± 5.5 | 29.5±2.8 | 211.0±2.1 | |
| | 3 | 523.6±133.4 | 17.9±4.5 | 208.6±5.0 | |

Table 17 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of peaks other than stigmasterol peak detected at different time points during digesion under small intestinal conditions

The values are presented as means $(\pm SD)$.

4.6.2 Stability of phytosteryl glycosides under small intestinal conditions

To evaluate the stability of phytosteryl glycosides under small intestinal conditions, the RP-HPLC chromatograms (figure 10) derived from analysis of phytosteryl glycosides extract incubated with and without pancreatin, and those from substrate blanks were compared. The peaks indicated by A, B, D, E, F, G and H were detected in the phytosteryl glycoside samples incubated without pancreatin. Among them, the peaks A, B, E, F and G, with retention times 17.4, 18.2, 21.4, 28.1, 29.4, 31.1 and 37.2 min, are suggested to represent compounds that were present in phytosteryl glycosides extract because those peaks were not detected in the substrate blanks. On the contrary, the peaks D and H were detected in phytosteryl glycosides samples as well as in the substrate blanks. Their presence in the substrate blanks indicate that they did not derive from the compounds which were extracted during extraction of phytosteryl glycosides. The possible source of peaks D and H could be the nonenzymatic components from pancreatin. Tables 18 and 19 present the mean peak areas of peaks detected in the phytosteryl glycosides samples incubated without and with pancreatin, respectively.

Based on chromatograms shown in figure 10, several changes occurred when phytosteryl glycosides extract was incubated with pancreatin. For example, in samples incubated without pancreatin, the peak A (17.4 min), E (28.1 min) and G (37.2 min) which were present in the samples incubated without pancreatin, could not be detected in samples incubated with pancreatin. Additionally, the peak C (21.1 min) was formed in the samples incubated with pancreatin. However, its peak area decreased considerably (p=0.016) between 0 hour and 1.5

hour of digestion. Between 1.5 hour and 3 hours, the peak area of peak C did not significantly change (p=0.28).

Although their identity was not characterized, the disappearance of the peaks at 17.4 and at 37.2 min, and the formation of a peak at 21.1 min, was an indication that pancreatic enzymes have hydrolysed some compounds which were present in phytosteryl glycosides extract. However, no peaks corresponding to stigmasterol/sitosterol were identified. Thus, whether the hydrolysed compounds were phytosteryl glycosides or not still need to be evaluated.



Figure 10 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl glycosides and blanks at different time points during digestion under small intestinal conditions. 0h, 1h, 2h indicate the chromatograms obtained from the samples incubated with pancreatin at the beginning, after 1.5h and 3 hours; EB= enzyme blank; SB= substrate blank.

Table 18 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of the peaks detected in phytosteryl glycosides samples incubated without pancreatin during digestion under stomach conditions

| Digestion | Retention time (minutes) | | | | | |
|-----------|--------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|--------------------|-------------------|----------------------|
| time (h) | 17.4 | 18.2 | 28.1 | 29.4 | 31.1 | 37.2 |
| 0 | 59.0±31.9 ^a | 254.5 ± 24.2^{a} | 7.1 ± 0.9^{a} | 3.4 ± 0.4^{a} | 7.4 ± 0.8^{a} | 7.5 ± 0.8^{a} |
| 1.5 | $17.9{\pm}16.8^{b}$ | $294.1{\pm}2.4^{a}$ | 7.7 ± 0.7^{a} | $3.7{\pm}0.5^{ab}$ | 7.7 ± 0.3^{a} | $5.9{\pm}2.6^{a}$ |
| 3 | $38.4{\pm}22.3^{a}$ | 308.2 ± 7.1^{a} | 8.3±0.1 ^a | 4.1 ± 0.3^{b} | 7.8 ± 0.3^{a} | 7.6±1.1 ^a |

The values are means (\pm SD) (n= 3); for each retention time; the values with different letters are significantly different (p \leq 0.05).

| Digestion time (h) | Retention time (minutes) | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|--|--|
| | 18.0 | 21.1 | 29.2 | 31.2 | | |
| 0 | 170.2 ± 40.5^{a} | 108.2±10.1 ^a | 4.4 ± 0.2^{a} | 6.3±0.4 ^a | | |
| 1.5 | $177.8{\pm}29.1^{a}$ | 32.0 ± 8.0^{b} | 3.0±0.6 ^a | $5.0{\pm}0.9^{a}$ | | |
| 3 | 221.5 ± 54.8^{a} | $36.4{\pm}6.1^{b}$ | 3.9±0.6 ^a | 5.3 ± 0.6^{a} | | |

Table 19 Peak areas $(mAU/10^4)$ of the peaks detected in phytosteryl glycosides samples incubated with pancreatin during digestion of under stomach conditions

The values are means (\pm SD) (n= 3); for each retention time, values with different letters are significantly different (p \leq 0.05).

Another observation which could be associated with the effect of pancreatic enzymes was the increase in peak area of peak A. Although the statistical difference was not revealed between the peak area at different time points of digestion (p=0.15), the peak area of peak A increased over time, and this increase was considered as important. This peak increased by 13.8% between 0 hour and 1.5 hour, and by 14.3% between 1.5 hour and 3 hours of digestion. However, in enzyme blanks, the peak A also showed an increase of 15.5% between 0 and 1.5 hour and 4.7% between 1.5 and 3 hours of incubation. Therefore, the findings are still inconclusive as to whether this increase could be associated with the effect of peancreatin. Nevertheless, since phytosteryl glycosides are more polar than free phytosterols (Wewer *et al.*, 2011), it was expected that they would elute before free phytosterols in a RP-HPLC system. Thus, the peak A with retention time of 18.2 min is thought to represent phytosteryl glycosides.

Previous studies have investigated the ability of mammalian digestive enzymes to hydrolyse phytosteryl glycosides. In a previously cited study by Weber (1988) on the metabolism of [4- 14 C]sitosteryl- β -D-glucoside in rats, it was suggested that the hydrolysis of this compound took place in the small intestine, based on the presence of small amount of sitosterol. However, the author did not indicate which enzyme was responsible for this hydrolysis. On the contrary, a later *in vitro* study by (Moreau & Hicks, 2004) indicated that phytosteryl glycosides extracted from soy lecithin, oats oil and corn bran, were not hydrolysed by pancreatic enzymes. Instead, the authors indicated that incubation of phytosteryl glycosides (Moreau & Hicks, 2004). This increase was explained by the enzymatic hydrolysis of fatty acid moiety of acylated phytoteryl glycosides which were also present in the sample, and release of

phytosteryl glycosides (Moreau & Hicks, 2004). In a study by Nystrom *et al.* (2008), microbial and plant β -glycosidases were used to study their ability to hydrolyse phytosteryl glycosides extracted from wheat and rye. In their study, microbial β -glycosidases hydrolysed phytosteryl glycosides, but purified β -glycosidases from *A. niger* and from almonds were unable to hydrolyse phytosteryl glycosides. Rather, the latter enzymes increased the amount of phytosteryl glycosides by cleaving the fatty acid moiety of acylated phytosteryl glycosides, thus converting them into phytosteryl glycosides.

4.6.3 Stability of phytosteryl ferulates under small intestinal conditions

The stability of phytosteryl ferulates was assessed by comparing the chromatograms obtained from RP-HPLC analysis of phytosteryl ferulates extract digested under small intestinal conditions. Figure 11 shows the chromatograms resulting from phytosteryl ferulates extract incubated with and without pancreatin and substrate blank. The comparison of the chromatograms from samples incubated with and without pancreatin indicates that most of the peaks (between 35-42 min and between 28-30 min) which were detected in enzyme blanks could not detected in samples incubated with pancreatin. It is clear that the new peaks detected in samples to which pancreatin was added, resulted from the degradation of the compounds with the mentioned retention time ranges in the enzyme blanks. The newly formed peaks are indicated by A₁, A₂ and A₃, were formed at the beginning (0 hour), after 1.5 hour and 3 hours of digestion. Their retention times were 19.2, 18.5 and 17.6 min, respectively. Their mean peak areas were found to vary over time, being 361.7±39.7, 201.1±170.6, and 665.1±78.0 for A₁, A₂ and A₃, respectively. Apparently, the peaks A₁, A₂ and A₃ seemed to be related to each other but it is not known whether they are or not the same. It seems that the peak A_2 and peak A_3 are the same as peak A_1 which shifted in retention time. The peak B also seems to be the same as the peaks identified at around 22 min after 1.5 and 3 hours. However, the peak B had two adjacent peaks which could not be detected after 1.5 and 3 hours of digestion.

The information on the capability of pancreatic enzymes to hydrolyse phytosteryl ferulates from wheat germs is scarce; but some studies have provided evidence on the ability of pancreatic enzymes to hydrolyse phytosteryl ferulates from other sources. *In vitro* study by Moreau and Hicks (2004) indicated that 47.3% of purified sitostanly ferulates were hydrolysed by porcine pancreatin after 4 hours. However, the authors indicated that pancreatin was unable to hydrolyse oryzanol which is a mixture of phytosteryl ferulates extracted from rice bran.

Contrary to Moreau and Hicks (2004), Miller *et al.* (2004) and Huang (2003) studied the hydrolysis of individual components of oryzanol and concluded that among different types of phytosteryl ferulates present in oryzanol, only sitosteryl and campesteryl ferulates were hydrolysed by pancreatic enzymes. Cholesterol esterase which is also one of the pancreatic enzymes was found capable to hydrolyse phytosteryl ferulates (Miller *et al.*, 2004; Nystrom *et al.*, 2008)



Figure 11 RP-HPLC chromatograms of phytosteryl ferulates and blanks at different time points during digestion under small intestinal conditions. 0h, 1h, 2h indicate the chromatograms obtained from samples incubated with pancreatin at the beginning, after 1h and 2 hours of digestion; SB= substrate blank; EB= enzyme blank.

The chromatograms shown in figure 11 indicate that most of the peaks which were present in the phytosteryl ferulates extract incubated without pancreatin could not be detected after addition of pancreatin. Comparing the chemical structures of free phytosterols and phytosteryl ferulates, the latter are relatively more polar than the former (Jiang & Wang, 2005). Therefore, in the RP-HPLC system, phytosteryl ferulates were expected to elute earlier than free phytosterols. Unfortunately, no peak was detected at the retention time of stigmasterol and sitosterol, which are among the most common free phytosterols in foods. As was evidenced by the results discussed in 4.3, phytosteryl ferulates elute before free phytosterols. Therefore,

it is still unkown whether the peaks detected between 35-40 min are phytosteryl ferulates or other compounds which were present in the extract, and which are also broken down when subjected to the small intestinal conditions. Phytosteryl ferulates extract from SPE fractionation was reported to contain some amounts of other polar lipids (Nystrom *et al.*, 2008). Thus, there is need of further analysis to characterize the identity of the peaks in samples incubated without enzyme, and those which are formed when pancreatin is added.

Chapter 5 CONCLUSIONS

Phytosterols, in particular phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides have been shown to possess important physiological properties. The most studied is their ability to lower blood cholesterol and the underlying mechanisms, but more research is also needed in order to understand their metabolic fate. This thesis focused on the behavior of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides from wheat germs under stomach and small intestinal conditions.

The results obtained indicate that phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides can be extracted from wheat germs, using Soxhlet extraction method and acetone as extraction solvent. The pH was found to influence the extractability of phytosteryl ferulates. The results also indicate that stigmasterol is not degraded neither under stomach nor small intestinal conditions. This implies that intact stigmasterol will be absorbed in the small intestine and that unabsorbed stigmasterol will be further metabolized in the colon or excreted as such.

For phytosterol conjugates, the qualitative analysis indicates that the extracts of both phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides are stable under stomach conditions. On the other hand, the results revealed that these extracts contain compounds which are unstable under small intestinal conditions.

Chapter 6 RECOMMENDATIONS

The digestion of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides under stomach and small intestinal conditions was assessed based on the changes in the peak intensities. The use of this more qualitative, rather than quantitative approach, was due to the lack of suitable internal standards. Therefore, we suggest that pure standards are first obtained in order to quantitatively evaluate the stability of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides under stomach and small intestinal conditions. In this regard, enzymatic or chemical synthesis of phytosteryl ferulates/ glycosides can be recommended.

Since phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides are heterogeneous compounds, their extracts contain different components. For example, ferulic acid or sugars may form different conjugates with different types of free phytosterols, and those conjugates may behave differently when subjected to certain conditions. Therefore, for metabolic studies, it would be necessary to evaluate individual components.

Finally, it should be kept in mind that the evaluation of the stability of compounds by mimicking stomach or small intestinal conditions may be impaired for example by the inhibition of enzymes by metabolic products. Therefore, well designed studies are needed for the metabolic studies of phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides. More UPLC-MS investigations are also important for the study and identification of the metabolites that are formed.

In view of the growing interest in using phytosterols, phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides may offer new opportunities to expand the benefits of phytosterols. Therefore, the studies of the stability of the phytosteryl ferulates and phytosteryl glycosides in the gastro-intestinal tract may be important for food industry.

REFERENCES

- Ahrens, E.H., Jr., Boucher, C.A. 1978. The composition of a simulated American diet. Comparison of chemical analyses and estimates from food composition tables. *Journal* of the American Dietetic Association, **73**(6), 613-620.
- Akihisa, T., Yasukawa, K., Yamaura, M., Ukiya, M., Kimura, Y., Shimizu, N., Arai, K. 2000. Triterpene alcohol and sterol ferulates from rice bran and their anti-inflammatory effects. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **48**(6), 2313-2319.
- Altmann, S.W., Davis, H.R., Zhu, L.J., Yao, X.R., Hoos, L.M., Tetzloff, G., Iyer, S.P.N., Maguire, M., Golovko, A., Zeng, M., Wang, L.Q., Murgolo, N., Graziano, M.P. 2004.
 Niemann-Pick C1 like 1 protein is critical for intestinal cholesterol absorption. *Science*, 303(5661), 1201-1204.
- Amiot, M.J., Knol, D., Cardinault, N., Nowicki, M., Bott, R., Antona, C., Borel, P., Bernard, J.P., Duchateau, G., Lairon, D. 2011. Phytosterol ester processing in the small intestine: impact on cholesterol availability for absorption and chylomicron cholesterol incorporation in healthy humans. *Journal of Lipid Research*, **52**(6), 1256-1264.
- Andersson, S.W., Skinner, J., Ellegard, L., Welch, A.A., Bingham, S., Mulligan, A., Andersson, H., Khaw, K.T. 2004. Intake of dietary plant sterols is inversely related to serum cholesterol concentration in men and women in the EPIC Norfolk population: a cross-sectional study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 58(10), 1378-1385.
- Armstrong, M.J., Carey, M.C. 1987. Thermodynamic and Molecular Determinants of Sterol Solubilities in Bile-Salt Micelles. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 28(10), 1144-1155.
- Baker, V.A., Hepburn, P.A., Kennedy, S.J., Jones, P.A., Lea, L.J., Sumpter, J.P., Ashby, J. 1999. Safety evaluation of phytosterol esters. Part 1. Assessment of oestrogenicity using a combination of in vivo and in vitro assays. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 37(1), 13-22.
- Barnes, P.J. 1982. Lipid-Composition of Wheat-Germ and Wheat-Germ Oil. *Fette Seifen* Anstrichmittel, **84**(7), 256-269.
- Berger, A., Jones, P.J., Abumweis, S.S. 2004. Plant sterols: factors affecting their efficacy and safety as functional food ingredients. *Lipids in Health and Disease* 2004, **3**:5.
- Bhattacharyya, A.K., Connor, W.E. 1974. Beta-sitosterolemia and xanthomatosis. A newly described lipid storage disease in two sisters. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 53(4), 1033-1043.

- Boberg, K.M., Einarsson, K., Bjorkhem, I. 1990. Apparent Lack of Conversion of Sitosterol into C-24-Bile Acids in Humans. *Journal of Lipid Research*, **31**(6), 1083-1088.
- Bosner, M.S., Lange, L.G., Stenson, W.F., Ostlund, R.E. 1999. Percent cholesterol absorption in normal women and men quantified with dual stable isotopic tracers and negative ion mass spectrometry. *Journal of Lipid Research*, **40**(2), 302-308.
- Bradford, P.G., Awad, A.B. 2007. Phytosterols as anticancer compounds. *Molecular Nutrition* & *Food Research*, **51**(2), 161-170.
- Breinholder, P., Mosca, L., Lindner, W. 2002. Concept of sequential analysis of free and conjugated phytosterols in different plant matrices. *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences*, **777**(1-2), 67-82.
- Brown, A.W., Hang, J.L., Dussault, P.H., Carr, T.P. 2010. Plant sterol and stanol substrate specificity of pancreatic cholesterol esterase. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 21(8), 736-740.
- Buhman, K.K., Accad, M., Novak, S., Choi, R.S., Wong, J.S., Hamilton, R.L., Turley, S., Farese, R.V. 2000. Resistance to diet-induced hypercholesterolemia and gallstone formation in ACAT2-deficient mice. *Nature Medicine*, 6(12), 1341-1347.
- Careri, M., Elviri, L., Mangia, A. 2001. Liquid chromatography-UV determination and liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometric characterization of sitosterol and stigmasterol in soybean oil. *Journal of chromatography. A*, **935**(1-2), 249-257.
- Cerqueira, M.T., Fry, M.M., Connor, W.E. 1979. Food and Nutrient Intakes of the Tarahumara Indians of Mexico. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **32**(4), 905-915.
- Christiansen, L., Karjalainen, N., Serimaa, A., Lonnroth, N., Paakkari, T., Yliruusi, J. 2001a. Phase behaviour of beta-sitosterol-cholesterol and beta-sitostanol-cholesterol coprecipitates. *Stp Pharma Sciences*, **11**(2), 167-173.
- Christiansen, L.I., Lahteenmaki, P.L., Mannelin, M.R., Seppanen-Laakso, T.E., Hiltunen, R.V., Yliruusi, J.K. 2001b. Cholesterol-lowering effect of spreads enriched with microcrystalline plant sterols in hypercholesterolemic subjects. *European Journal of Nutrition*, **40**(2), 66-73.
- Clifton, P.M., Noakes, M., Sullivan, D., Erichsen, N., Ross, D., Annison, G., Fassoulakis, A., Cehun, M., Nestel, P. 2004. Cholesterol-lowering effects of plant sterol esters differ in milk, yoghurt, bread and cereal. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 58(3), 503-509.

- Cordain, L. 1999. Cereal grains: humanity's double-edged sword. *World review of nutrition and dietetics*, **84**, 19-73.
- de Castro, M.D.L., Garcia-Ayuso, L.E. 1998. Soxhlet extraction of solid materials: an outdated technique with a promising innovative future. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 369(1-2), 1-10.
- De Jong, N., Pijpers, L., Bleeker, J.K., Ocke, M.C. 2004. Potential intake of phytosterols/stanols: results of a simulation study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **58**(6), 907-919.
- Demonty, I., Ras, R.T., van der Kniap, H.C.M., Duchateau, G.S.M.J.F., Meijer, L., Zock, P.L., Geleijnse, J.M., Trautwein, E.A. 2009. Continuous Dose-Response Relationship of the LDL-Cholesterol-Lowering Effect of Phytosterol Intake. *Journal of Nutrition*, **139**(2), 271-284.
- Doornbos, A.M.E., Meynen, E.M., Duchateau, G.S.M.J.E., van der Knaap, H.C.M., Trautwein, E.A. 2006. Intake occasion affects the serum cholesterol lowering of a plant sterol-enriched single-dose yoghurt drink in mildly hypercholesterolaemic subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **60**(3), 325-333.
- Douglass, T.S., Connor, W.E., Lin, D.S. 1981. The biosynthesis, absorption, and origin of cholesterol and plant sterols in the Florida land crab. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 22(6), 961-970.
- Dunford, N.T., Zhang, M.Q. 2003. Pressurized solvent extraction of wheat germ oil. *Food Research International*, **36**(9-10), 905-909.
- Ebrahim, S., Smith, G.D., McCabe, C., Payne, N., Pickin, M., Sheldon, T.A., Lampe, F., Sampson, F., Ward, S., Wannamthee, G. 1998. Cholesterol and coronary heart disease: screening and treatment. *Quality in Health Care*, **7**(4), 232-239.
- EFSA. 2008. Consumption of Food and Beverages with Added Plant Sterols in the European Union. *The EFSA Journal*, **2008**(133), 1-21.
- Farre, R., Lagarda, M.J., Garcia-Llatas, G. 2006. Analysis of phytosterols in foods. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, **41**(5), 1486-1496.
- FDA. 2000. Agency response letter GRAS notice no. 000039. Available at www.fda.gov.
- Field, F.J., Born, E., Murthy, S., Mathur, S.N. 2001. Regulation of sterol regulatory elementbinding proteins by cholesterol flux in CaCo-2 cells. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 42(10), 1687-1698.

- Field, F.J., Mathur, S.N. 1983. Beta-Sitosterol Esterification by Intestinal Acylcoenzyme-a -Cholesterol Acyltransferase (Acat) and Its Effect on Cholesterol Esterification. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 24(4), 409-417.
- Gajewski, M., Przybyl, J.L., Bajer, M., Jariene, E. 2011. The Influence of Controlled Atmosphere Storage on Phytosterols in Broccoli Heads. *Journal of Food Processing* and Preservation, 35(5), 722-728.
- Garti, N., Romer, S. 2006. The activity and absorption relationship of cholesterol and phytosterols. *Colloids and Surfaces a-Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 282, 435-456.
- Gupta, A.K., Savopoulos, C.G., Ahuja, J., Hatzitolios, A.I. 2011. Role of phytosterols in lipidlowering: current perspectives. *Qjm-an International Journal of Medicine*, **104**(4), 301-308.
- Gylling, H., Miettinen, T.A. 1999. Cholesterol reduction by different plant stanol mixtures and with variable fat intake. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental*, **48**(5), 575-580.
- Habib-Jiwan, J.L., Rozenberg, R., Ruibal-Mendieta, N.L., Petitjean, G., Cani, P., Delacroix,
 D.L., Delzenne, N.M., Meurens, M., Quetin-Leclercq, J. 2003. Phytosterol analysis and characterization in spelt (Triticum aestivum ssp spelta L.) and wheat (T aestivum L.) lipids by LC/APCI-MS. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 38(2), 189-197.
- Haikal, Z., Play, B., Landrier, J.F., Giraud, A., Ghiringhelli, O., Lairon, D., Jourdheuil-Rahmani, D. 2008. NPC1L1 and SR-BI are involved in intestinal cholesterol absorption from small-size lipid donors. *Lipids*, 43(5), 401-408.
- Hallikainen, M.A., Sarkkinen, E.S., Gylling, H., Erkkila, A.T., Uusitupa, M.I.J. 2000. Comparison of the effects of plant sterol ester and plant stanol ester-enriched margarines in lowering serum cholesterol concentrations in hypercholesterolaemic subjects on a low-fat diet. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54(9), 715-725.
- Hallikainen, M.A., Sarkkinen, E.S., Uusitupa, M.I.J. 1999. Effects of low-fat stanol ester enriched margarines on concentrations of serum carotenoids in subjects with elevated serum cholesterol concentrations. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **53**(12), 966-969.
- Han, J., Yang, Y., Feng, M., Wang, G. 2007. Analysis of phytosterol contents in Chinese plant food and primary estimation of its intake of people. *Wei Sheng Yan Jiu*, **36**(3), 301-305.

- Han, J.H., Yang, Y.X., Feng, M.Y. 2008. Contents of Phytosterols in Vegetables and Fruits Commonly Consumed in China. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, 21(6), 449-453.
- Hartmann, M.A. 1998. Plant sterols and the membrane environment. *Trends in Plant Science*, 3(5), 170-175.
- Hearty, A., Duffy, E., Joyce, J., O'Connor, C., Gibney, M.J. 2009. Phytosterol-enriched products on the Irish market: examination of intake and consumption patterns. *Public Health Nutrition*, **12**(1), 51-58.
- Heinemann, T., Axtmann, G., Vonbergmann, K. 1993. Comparison of Intestinal-Absorption of Cholesterol with Different Plant Sterols in Man. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 23(12), 827-831.
- Hendriks, H.F., Weststrate, J.A., van Vliet, T., Meijer, G.W. 1999. Spreads enriched with three different levels of vegetable oil sterols and the degree of cholesterol lowering in normocholesterolaemic and mildly hypercholesterolaemic subjects. *European Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, 53(4), 319-327.
- Hendriks, H.F.J., Brink, E.J., Meijer, G.W., Princen, H.M.G., Ntanios, F.Y. 2003. Safety of long-term consumption of plant sterol esters-enriched spread. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 57(5), 681-692.
- Hernandez, M., Montenegro, J., Steiner, M., Kim, D., Sparrow, C., Detmers, P.A., Wright, S.D., Chao, Y.S. 2000. Intestinal absorption of cholesterol is mediated by a saturable, inhibitable transporter. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1486(2-3), 232-242.
- Hirai, K., Shimazu, C., Takezoe, R., Ozeki, Y. 1986. Cholesterol, Phytosterol and Polyunsaturated Fatty-Acid Levels in 1982 and 1957 Japanese Diets. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, **32**(4), 363-372.
- Huang, C. 2003. jPotential functionality and digestibility of oryzanol as determined using *in vitro* cell culture model. *Ph.D. Thesis, Louisiana State University. Available at http://etd.lsu.edu/docs/available/etd-0609103-135757/unrestricted/Huang_dis.pdf.*
- Igel, M., Giesa, U., Lutjohann, D., von Bergmann, K. 2003. Comparison of the intestinal uptake of cholesterol, plant sterols, and stanols in mice. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 44(3), 533-538.
- Ikeda, I., Matsuoka, R., Hamada, T., Mitsui, K., Imabayashi, S., Uchino, A., Sato, M., Kuwano, E., Itamura, T., Yamada, K., Tanaka, K., Imaizumi, K. 2002. Cholesterol

esterase accelerates intestinal cholesterol absorption. *Biochimca et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*General Subjects*, **1571**(1), 34-44.

- Ikeda, I., Sugano, M. 1983. Some Aspects of Mechanism of Inhibition of Cholesterol Absorption by Beta-Sitosterol. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 732(3), 651-658.
- Ikeda, I., Tanabe, Y., Sugano, M. 1989. Effects of Sitosterol and Sitostanol on Micellar Solubility of Cholesterol. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 35(4), 361-369.
- Islam, M.S., Murata, T., Fujisawa, M., Nagasaka, R., Ushio, H., Bari, A.M., Hori, M., Ozaki,
 H. 2008. Anti-inflammatory effects of phytosteryl ferulates in colitis induced by
 dextran sulphate sodium in mice. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 154(4), 812-824.
- Jandacek, R.J., Webb, M.R., Mattson, F.H. 1977. Effect of an aqueous phase on the solubility of cholesterol in an oil phase. *Journal of Lipid Research*, **18**(2), 203-210.
- Janowski, B.A., Willy, P.J., Devi, T.R., Falck, J.R., Mangelsdorf, D.J. 1996. An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXR alpha. *Nature*, **383**(6602), 728-731.
- Jenkins, D.J.A., Kendall, C.W.C., Marchie, A., Jenkins, A.L., Augustin, L.S.A., Ludwig, D.S., Barnard, N.D., Anderson, J.W. 2003. Type 2 diabetes and the vegetarian diet. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **78**(3), 610s-616s.
- Jesch, E.D., Carr, T.P. 2006. Sitosterol reduces micellar cholesterol solubility in model bile. *Nutrition Research*, **26**(11), 579-584.
- Jiang, Y.Z., Wang, T. 2005. Phytosterols in cereal by-products. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, 82(6), 439-444.
- Jimenez-Escrig, A., Santos-Hidalgo, A.B., Saura-Calixto, F. 2006. Common sources and estimated intake of plant sterols in the Spanish diet. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **54**(9), 3462-3471.
- Jones, P.J., Raeini-Sarjaz, M., Ntanios, F.Y., Vanstone, C.A., Feng, J.Y., Parsons, W.E. 2000. Modulation of plasma lipid levels and cholesterol kinetics by phytosterol versus phytostanol esters. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 41(5), 697-705.
- Jones, P.J.H., MacDougall, D.E., Ntanios, F., Vanstone, C.A. 1997. Dietary phytosterols as cholesterol-lowering agents in humans. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, **75**(3), 217-227.

- Jonker, D., Glatz, J.F.C., Homan, C., Posthumus, M.A., Vanderhoek, G.D., Katan, M.B. 1985. Combined Determination of Free, Esterified and Glycosilated Plant Sterols in Foods. *Nutrition Reports International*, **32**(4), 943-951.
- Judd, J.T., Baer, D.J., Chen, S.C., Clevidence, B.A., Muesing, R.A., Kramer, M., Meijer, G.W. 2002. Plant sterol esters lower plasma lipids and most carotenoids in mildly hypercholesterolemic adults. *Lipids*, 37(1), 33-42.
- Kamal-Eldin, A., Maatta, K., Toivo, J., Lampi, A.M., Piironen, V. 1998. Acid-catalyzed isomerization of fucosterol and Delta(5)-avenasterol. *Lipids*, **33**(11), 1073-1077.
- Kim, J.S., Godber, J.S., King, J.M., Prinyawiwatkul, W. 2001. Inhibition of cholesterol autoxidation by the nonsaponifiable fraction in rice bran in an aqueous model system. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **78**(7), 685-689.
- Kovganko, N.V., Kashkan, Z.N. 1999. Sterol glycosides and acylglycosides. *Chemistry of Natural Compounds*, 35(5), 479-497.
- Krause, B.R., Anderson, M., Bisgaier, C.L., Bocan, T., Bousley, R., Dehart, P., Essenburg, A., Hamelehle, K., Homan, R., Kieft, K., Mcnally, W., Stanfield, R., Newton, R.S. 1993.
 Invivo Evidence That the Lipid-Regulating Activity of the Acat Inhibitor Ci-976 in Rats Is Due to Inhibition of Both Intestinal and Liver Acat. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 34(2), 279-294.
- Law, M. 2000. Plant sterol and stanol margarines and health. *British Medical Journal*, **320**(7238), 861-864.
- Lee, M.H., Lu, K.M., Patel, S.B. 2001. Genetic basis of sitosterolemia. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, **12**(2), 141-149.
- Lee, R.G., Willingham, M.C., Davis, M.A., Skinner, K.A., Rudel, L.L. 2000. Differential expression of ACAT1 and ACAT2 among cells within liver, intestine, kidney, and adrenal of nonhuman primates. *Journal of Lipid Research*, **41**(12), 1991-2001.
- Lin, X.B., Ma, L., Racette, S.B., Spearie, C.L.A., Ostlund, R.E. 2009. Phytosterol glycosides reduce cholesterol absorption in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, **296**(4), G931-G935.
- Ling, W.H., Jones, P.J. 1995. Dietary phytosterols: a review of metabolism, benefits and side effects. *Life Sciences*, **57**(3), 195-206.
- Lund, E., Boberg, K.M., Bystrom, S., Olund, J., Carlstrom, K., Bjorkhem, I. 1991. Formation of novel C21-bile acids from cholesterol in the rat. Structure identification of the major Di- and trihydroxylated species. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 266(8), 4929-4937.

- Maclatchy, D.L., Vanderkraak, G.J. 1995. The Phytoestrogen Beta-Sitosterol Alters the Reproductive Endocrine Status of Goldfish. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 134(2), 305-312.
- Maguire, L.S., O'Sullivan, S.M., Galvin, K., O'Connor, T.P., O'Brien, N.M. 2004. Fatty acid profile, tocopherol, squalene and phytosterol content of walnuts, almonds, peanuts, hazelnuts and the macadamia nut. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition*, 55(3), 171-178.
- Maki, K.C., Davidson, M.H., Umporowicz, D.M., Schaefer, E.J., Dicklin, M.R., Ingram, K.A., Chen, S., McNamara, J.R., Gebhart, B.W., Ribaya-Mercado, J.D., Perrone, G., Robins, S.J., Franke, W.C. 2001. Lipid responses to plant-sterol-enriched reduced-fat spreads incorporated into a National Cholesterol Education Program Step I diet. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **74**(1), 33-43.
- Mannarino, E., Pirro, M., Cortese, C., Lupattelli, G., Siepi, D., Mezzetti, A., Bertolini, S., Parillo, M., Fellin, R., Pujia, A., Averna, M., Nicolle, C., Notarbartolo, A. 2009. Effects of a phytosterol-enriched dairy product on lipids, sterols and 8-isoprostane in hypercholesterolemic patients: A multicenter Italian study. *Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, **19**(2), 84-90.
- Matvienko, O.A., Lewis, D.S., Swanson, M., Arndt, B., Rainwater, D.L., Stewart, J., Alekel, D.L. 2002. A single daily dose of soybean phytosterols in ground beef decreases serum total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol in young, mildly hypercholesterolemic men. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **76**(1), 57-64.
- Mel'nikov, S.M., ten Hoorn, J.W.M.S., Eijkelenboom, A.P.A.M. 2004. Effect of phytosterols and phytostanols on the solubilization of cholesterol by dietary mixed micelles: an in vitro study. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, **127**(2), 121-141.
- Mellanen, P., Petanen, T., Lehtimaki, J., Makela, S., Bylund, G., Holmbom, B., Mannila, E., Oikari, A., Santti, R. 1996. Wood-derived estrogens: Studies in vitro with breast cancer cell lines and in vivo in trout. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **136**(2), 381-388.
- Miettinen, T.A., Vanhanen, H. 1994. Dietary Sitostanol Related to Absorption, Synthesis and Serum Level of Cholesterol in Different Apolipoprotein-E Phenotypes. *Atherosclerosis*, **105**(2), 217-226.
- Miettinen, T.A., Vuoristo, M., Nissinen, M., Jarvinen, H.J., Gylling, H. 2000. Serum, biliary, and fecal cholesterol and plant sterols in colectomized patients before and during

consumption of stanol ester margarine. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **71**(5), 1095-1102.

- Miller, A., Majauskaite, L., Engel, K.H. 2004. Enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis of gammaoryzanol. *European Food Research and Technology*, **218**(4), 349-354.
- Moreau, R.A., Hicks, K.B. 2004. The in vitro hydrolysis of phytosterol conjugates in food matrices by mammalian digestive enzymes. *Lipids*, **39**(8), 769-776.
- Moreau, R.A., Whitaker, B.D., Hicks, K.B. 2002. Phytosterols, phytostanols, and their conjugates in foods: structural diversity, quantitative analysis, and health-promoting uses. *Progress in Lipid Research*, **41**(6), 457-500.
- Mossner, J., Keim, V. 2011. Pancreatic Enzyme Therapy. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International*, **108**(34-35), 578-582.
- Mussner, M.J., Parhofer, K.G., von Bergmann, K., Schwandt, P., Broedl, U., Otto, C. 2002. Effects of phytosterol ester-enriched margarine on plasma lipoproteins in mild to moderate hypercholesterolemia are related to basal cholesterol and fat intake. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental*, 51(2), 189-194.
- Nair, P.P., Turjman, N., Kessie, G., Calkins, B., Goodman, G.T., Davidovitz, H., Nimmagadda, G. 1984. Diet, nutrition intake, and metabolism in populations at high and low risk for colon cancer. Dietary cholesterol, beta-sitosterol, and stigmasterol. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **40**(4 Suppl), 927-30.
- Noakes, M., Clifton, P., Ntanios, F., Shrapnel, W., Record, I., McInerney, J. 2002. An increase in dietary carotenoids when consuming plant sterols or stanols is effective in maintaining plasma carotenoid concentrations. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 75(1), 79-86.
- Normen, A.L., Brants, H.A.M., Voorrips, L.E., Andersson, N.A., van den Brandt, P.A., Goldbohm, R.A. 2001. Plant sterol intakes and colorectal cancer risk in the Netherlands Cohort Study on Diet and Cancer. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 74(1), 141-148.
- Normen, L., Brants, H., Voorrips, L., Andersson, H., van den Brandt, P.A., Goldbohm, R.A. 1999. Plant sterol intake and colorectal cancer risk in the Netherlands cohort study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, **149**(11), S23-S23.
- Normen, L., Bryngelsson, S., Johnsson, M., Evheden, P., Ellegard, L., Brants, H., Andersson, H., Dutta, P. 2002. The phytosterol content of some cereal foods commonly consumed in Sweden and in the Netherlands. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 15(6), 693-704.

- Nystrom, L., Achrenius, T., Lampi, A.M., Moreau, R.A., Piironen, V. 2007a. A comparison of the antioxidant properties of steryl ferulates with tocopherol at high temperatures. *Food Chemistry*, **101**(3), 947-954.
- Nystrom, L., Makinen, M., Lampi, A.M., Piironen, V. 2005. Antioxidant activity of steryl ferulate extracts from rye and wheat bran. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53(7), 2503-2510.
- Nystrom, L., Moreau, R.A., Lampi, A.M., Hicks, K.B., Piironen, V. 2008. Enzymatic hydrolysis of steryl ferulates and steryl glycosides. *European Food Research and Technology*, **227**(3), 727-733.
- Nystrom, L., Paasonen, A., Lampi, A.M., Piironen, V. 2007b. Total plant sterols, steryl ferulates and steryl glycosides in milling fractions of wheat and rye. *Journal of Cereal Science*, **45**(1), 106-115.
- Orthoefer, F.T. 2004. Rice bran and oil. In E. T. Champagne (Ed.), Rice: Chemistry and technology (pp. 569–593). American Association of Cereal Chemists.
- Ostlund, R.E. 2002. Phytosterols in human nutrition. Annual Review of Nutrition, 22, 533-549.
- Ostlund, R.E., McGill, J.B., Zeng, C.M., Covey, D.F., Stearns, J., Stenson, W.F., Spilburg, C.A. 2002a. Gastrointestinal absorption and plasma kinetics of soy Delta(5)phytosterols and phytostanols in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 282(4), E911-E916.
- Ostlund, R.E., Racette, S.B., Okeke, A., Stenson, W.F. 2002b. Phytosterols that are naturally present in commercial corn oil significantly reduce cholesterol absorption in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **75**(6), 1000-1004.
- Ostlund, R.E., Racette, S.B., Stenson, W.F. 2003. Inhibition of cholesterol absorption by phytosterol-replete wheat germ compared with phytosterol-depleted wheat germ. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **77**(6), 1385-1389.
- Ostlund, R.E., Spilburg, C.A., Stenson, W.F. 1999. Sitostanol administered in lecithin micelles potently reduces cholesterol absorption in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **70**(5), 826-831.
- Panzeter, P.L., Zweifel, B., Althaus, F.R. 1992. The Alpha-Glycosidic Bonds of Poly(Adp-Ribose) Are Acid-Labile. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 184(1), 544-548.
- Pelletier, X., Belbraouet, S., Mirabel, D., Mordret, F., Perrin, J.L., Pages, X., Debry, G. 1995. A Diet Moderately Enriched in Phytosterols Lowers Plasma-Cholesterol

Concentrations in Normocholesterolemic Humans. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, **39**(5), 291-295.

- Phillips, K.M., Ruggio, D.M., Ashraf-Khorassani, M. 2005. Analysis of steryl glucosides in foods and dietary supplements by solid-phase extraction and gas chromatography. *Journal of Food Lipids*, **12**(2), 124-140.
- Piironen, V., Lindsay, D.G., Miettinen, T.A., Toivo, J., Lampi, A.M. 2000a. Plant sterols: biosynthesis, biological function and their importance to human nutrition. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **80**(7), 939-966.
- Piironen, V., Toivo, J., Lampi, A.M. 2000b. Natural Sources of Dietary Plant Sterols. *Journal* of Food Composition and Analysis, **13**(4), 619-624.
- Piironen, V., Toivo, J., Lampi, A.M. 2002. Plant sterols in cereals and cereal products. *Cereal Chemistry*, 79(1), 148-154.
- Plat, J., Mensink, R.P. 2002. Increased intestinal ABCA1 expression contributes to the decrease in cholesterol absorption after plant stanol consumption. *Faseb Journal*, 16(10), 1248-1253.
- Plat, J., Nichols, J.A., Mensink, R.P. 2005. Plant sterols and stanols: effects on mixed micellar composition and LXR (target gene) activation. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 46(11), 2468-2476.
- Plat, J., van Onselen, E.N.M., van Heugten, M.M.A., Mensink, R.P. 2000. Effects on serum lipids, lipoproteins and fat soluble antioxidant concentrations of consumption frequency of margarines and shortenings enriched with plant stanol esters. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54(9), 671-677.
- Pollak, O.J. 1953. Reduction of blood cholesterol in man. Circulation, 7(5), 702-706.
- Popov, A., Milkova, T., Marekov, N. 1975. Free and bound sterol content of sunflower, soy bean and maize oils. *Nahrung*, **19**(7), 547-549.
- Quilez, J., Garcia-Lorda, P., Salas-Salvado, J. 2003a. Potential uses and benefits of phytosterols in diet: present situation and future directions. *Clinical Nutrition*, 22(4), 343-351.
- Quilez, J., Rafecas, M., Brufau, G., Garcia-Lorda, P., Megias, I., Bullo, M., Ruiz, J.A., Salas-Salvado, J. 2003b. Bakery products enriched with phytosterol esters, alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene decrease plasma LDL-cholesterol and maintain plasma betacarotene concentrations in normocholesterolemic men and women. *The Journal of Nutrition*, **133**(10), 3103-3109.

- Quilez, J., Rafecas, M., Brufau, G., Garcia-Lorda, P., Megias, I., Bullo, M., Ruiz, J.A., Salas-Salvado, J. 2003c. Bakery products enriched with phytosterol esters, alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene decrease plasma LDL-cholesterol and maintain plasma betacarotene concentrations in normocholesterolemic men and women. *The Journal of Nutrition*, **133**(10), 3103-9.
- Raeini-Sarjaz, M., Ntanios, F.Y., Vanstone, C.A., Jones, P.J.H. 2002. No changes in serum fat-soluble vitamin and carotenoid concentrations with the intake of plant sterol/stanol esters in the context of a controlled diet. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental*, **51**(5), 652-656.
- Ribeiro, N., Streiff, S., Heissler, D., Elhabiri, M., Albrecht-Gary, A.M., Atsumi, M., Gotoh,
 M., Desaubry, L., Nakatani, Y., Ourisson, G. 2007. Reinforcing effect of bi- and tricyclopolyprenols on 'primitive' membranes made of polyprenyl phosphates. *Tetrahedron*, 63(16), 3395-3407.
- Richelle, M., Enslen, M., Hager, C., Groux, M., Tavazzi, I., Godin, J.P., Berger, A., Metairon, S., Quaile, S., Piguet-Welsch, C., Sagalowicz, L., Green, H., Fay, L.B. 2004. Both free and esterified plant sterols reduce cholesterol absorption and the bioavailability of beta-carotene and alpha-tocopherol in normocholesterolemic humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **80**(1), 171-177.
- Rodriguezpalmero, M., Delapresaowens, S., Castellotebargallo, A.I., Sabater, M.C.L.,
 Riverourgell, M., Delatorreboronat, M.C. 1994. Determination of Sterol Content in
 Different Food Samples by Capillary Gas-Chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 672(1-2), 267-272.
- Salen, G., Ahrens, E.H., Jr., Grundy, S.M. 1970. Metabolism of beta-sitosterol in man. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 49(5), 952-67.
- Salo, P., Wester, I. 2005. Low-Fat Formulations of Plant Stanols and Sterols. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 96(1, Supplement), 51-54.
- Sanders, D.J., Minter, H.J., Howes, D., Hepburn, P.A. 2000. The safety evaluation of phytosterol esters. Part 6. The comparative absorption and tissue distribution of phytosterols in the rat. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, **38**(6), 485-491.
- SCF. 2000. Commission Decision 2000/500/EC of 24 July 2000 authorising the placing on the market of yellow fat spreads with added phytosterol esters as novel foods or novel food ingredients under Regulation (EC) No 258/97 of the European Parliament and of the Council.

- SCF. 2002. General view of the Scientific Committee on Food on the long-term effects of the intake of elevated levels of phytosterols from multiple dietary sources, with particular attention to the effects of b-carotene. SCF/CS/NF/DOS/20 ADD 1 Final.
- Scholle, J.M., Baker, W.L., Talati, R., Coleman, C.I. 2009. The Effect of Adding Plant Sterols or Stanols to Statin Therapy in Hypercholesterolemic Patients: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, **28**(5), 517-524.
- Schrick, K., Mayer, U., Martin, G., Bellini, C., Kuhnt, C., Schmidt, J., Jurgens, G. 2002. Interactions between sterol biosynthesis genes in embryonic development of Arabidopsis. *Plant Journal*, **31**(1), 61-73.
- Sioen, I., Matthys, C., Huybrechts, I., Van Camp, J., De Henauw, S. 2011. Consumption of plant sterols in Belgium: estimated intakes and sources of naturally occurring plant sterols and beta-carotene. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **105**(6), 960-966.
- Slavin, J. 2004. Whole grains and human health. Nutrition research reviews, 17(1), 99-110.
- Song, Y.S., Jin, C., Park, E.H. 2000. Identification of metabolites of phytosterols in rat feces using GC/MS. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, **23**(6), 599-604.
- Spilburg, C.A., Goldberg, A.C., McGill, J.B., Stenson, W.F., Racette, S.B., Bateman, J., McPherson, T., Ostlund, R.E. 2003. Fat-free foods supplemented with soy stanollecithin powder reduce cholesterol absorption and LDL cholesterol. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, **103**(5), 577-581.
- Svoboda, J.A., Thompson, M.J., Herbert, E.W., Shimanuki, H. 1980. Sterol Utilization in Honey Bees Fed a Synthetic Diet - Analysis of Prepupal Sterols. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 26(5), 291-294.
- Tanasescu, M., Cho, E., Manson, J.E., Hu, F.B. 2004. Dietary fat and cholesterol and the risk of cardiovascular disease among women with type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **79**(6), 999-1005.
- Tikkanen, M.J. 2005. Plant sterols and stanols. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, **11**(170), 215-230.
- Toivo, J., Lampi, A.M., Aalto, S., Piironen, V. 2000. Factors affecting sample preparation in the gas chromatographic determination of plant sterols in whole wheat flour. *Food Chemistry*, 68(2), 239-245.
- Trautwein, E.A., Duchateau, G.S.M.J.E., Lin, Y.G., Mel'nikov, S.M., Molhuizen, H.O.F., Ntanios, F.Y. 2003. Proposed mechanisms of cholesterol-lowering action of plant sterols. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, **105**(3-4), 171-185.
- Valsta, L.M., Lemstrom, A., Ovaskainen, M.L., Lampi, A.M., Toivo, J., Korhonen, T., Piironen, V. 2004. Estimation of plant sterol and cholesterol intake in Finland: quality of new values and their effect on intake. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **92**(4), 671-678.
- Vanstone, C.A., Raeini-Sarjaz, M., Parsons, W.E., Jones, P.J. 2002. Unesterified plant sterols and stanols lower LDL-cholesterol concentrations equivalently in hypercholesterolemic persons. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **76**(6), 1272-1278.
- Vasiliou, V., Vasiliou, K., Nebert, D.W. 2009. Human ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter family. *Human Genomics*, **3**(3), 281-90.
- Vissers, M.N., Zock, P.L., Meijer, G.W., Katan, M.B. 2000. Effect of plant sterols from rice bran oil and triterpene alcohols from sheanut oil on serum lipoprotein concentrations in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **72**(6), 1510-1515.
- Volpe, R., Niittynen, L., Korpela, R., Sirtori, C., Bucci, A., Fraone, N., Pazzucconi, F. 2001. Effects of yoghurt enriched with plant sterols on serum lipids in patients with moderate hypercholesterolaemia. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 86(2), 233-239.
- Weber, N. 1988. Metabolism of Sitosteryl Beta-D-Glucoside and Its Nutritional Effects in Rats. *Lipids*, **23**(1), 42-47.
- Weingartner, O., Bohm, M., Laufs, U. 2009. Controversial role of plant sterol esters in the management of hypercholesterolaemia. *European Heart Journal*, **30**(4), 404-409.
- Weststrate, J.A., Ayesh, R., Bauer-Plank, C., Drewitt, P.N. 1999. Safety evaluation of phytosterol esters. Part 4. Faecal concentrations of bile acids and neutral sterols in healthy normolipidaemic volunteers consuming a controlled diet either with or without a phytosterol ester-enriched margarine. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, **37**(11), 1063-1071.
- Weststrate, J.A., Meijer, G.W. 1998. Plant sterol-enriched margarines and reduction of plasma total- and LDL-cholesterol concentrations in normocholesterolaemic and mildly hypercholesterolaemic subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **52**(5), 334-343.
- Wewer, V., Dombrink, I., vom Dorp, K., Dormann, P. 2011. Quantification of sterol lipids in plants by quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 52(5), 1039-1054.
- Xu, Z., Godber, J.S. 1999. Purification and identification of components of gamma-oryzanol in rice bran Oil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **47**(7), 2724-2728.

- Yokota, T. 1997. The structure, biosynthesis and function of brassinosteroids. *Trends in Plant Science*, **2**(4), 137-143.
- Yoon, S.H., Kim, S.K. 1994. Oxidative Stability of High Fatty-Acid Rice Bran Oil at Different Stages of Refining. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **71**(2), 227-229.
- Yu, L.Q., Hammer, R.E., Li-Hawkins, J., von Bergmann, K., Lutjohann, D., Cohen, J.C., Hobbs, H.H. 2002. Disruption of Abcg5 and Abcg8 in mice reveals their crucial role in biliary cholesterol secretion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **99**(25), 16237-16242.
- http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32004R0608:EN:HTML, 7/1/2011

APPENDICES A: Chromatograms of selected ions of phytosteryl ferulates Appendix A1



Figure 12 Selected ion chromatograms of sitosteryl ferulate; upper chromatogram m/z= 573.43 [M-H₂O+H]⁺; lower chromatogram m/z= 591.44 [M+H]⁺, in the phytosteryl ferulate 2 fraction.

Appendix A2



Figure 13 Selected ion chromatograms of stigmasteryl ferulate; upper chromatogram m/z= 571.41 [M-H₂O+H]⁺; lower chromatogram m/z= 589.42 [M+H]⁺, in the phytosteryl ferulate 2 fraction.

Appendix A3



Figure 14 Selected ion chromatograms of campesteryl ferulate; upper chromatogram m/z= 559.41 [M-H₂O+H]⁺; lower chromatogram m/z= 577.42 [M+H]⁺, in the phytosteryl ferulate 2 fraction

APPENDICES B: Chromatograms of selected ions of phytosteryl glucosides





Figure 15 Selected ion chromatograms of sitosteryl glucoside (upper chromatogram m/z =559.4 [M-H₂O+H]⁺, lower chromatogram m/z = 577.4 [M+H]⁺) in the phytosteryl glycoside fraction.

Appendix B2



Figure 16 Selected ion chromatograms of stigmasteryl glucoside (upper chromatogram m/z= 557.4 [M-H₂O+H]⁺, lower chromatogram m/z= 575.4 [M+H]⁺) in the phytosteryl glycoside fraction.

Appendix B3



Figure 17 Selected ion chromatograms of campesteryl glucoside (upper chromatogram m/z= 545.4 [M-H₂O+H]⁺, lower chromatogram m/z= 563.4 [M+H]⁺) in the phytosteryl glycoside fraction.